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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Good morning.

          3  The Committee on Governmental Operations has come to

          4  order and we would like to thank you for your

          5  presence and we await with great interest, of

          6  course, your testimony.

          7                 Human Rights organizations have

          8  documented that Sudan has forbidden people from

          9  practicing their faith and even subjected them to

         10  inhumane treatment based upon their religion.

         11                 Today is this Committee's first

         12  hearing on legislation setting forth a municipal

         13  policy restricting the City's business with banks

         14  and companies during business in Sudan.

         15                 The bill sets forth the following

         16  restrictions: Intro. No. 555, mandates that City

         17  funds not be deposited in banks or trust companies

         18  which provide the following services either directly

         19  or through a subsidiary or agent to the government

         20  of Sudan.

         21                 - Advertising or otherwise promoting

         22  the sale, outside of Sudan, of coins minted in

         23  Sudan.

         24                 - Underwriting the securities of the

         25  government of Sudan.
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          2                 - Making loans to the government of

          3  Sudan.

          4                 Additionally, the Commissioner of

          5  Finance shall by rule establish criteria by which to

          6  evaluate whether banks are using the means at their

          7  disposal to comply with the embargo on trade and

          8  financial transactions with Sudan and any other

          9  sanctions imposed by the United States government

         10  with regards to Sudan.

         11                 Banks shall then be classified in

         12  accordance with this criteria and when choosing

         13  among banks, offering comparable services at a

         14  comparable cost.

         15                 City agencies shall seek to deposit

         16  or invest funds at, and obtain services from, the

         17  available banks that have received the highest

         18  classification.

         19                 Intro. No. 555 provides that no bank

         20  shall be denied designation because of any action

         21  taken prior to the effective date of this local law.

         22                 Intro. No. 5 55 and City Contracts.

         23  This bill mandates that no City agency contract for

         24  the supply of goods, services or construction with

         25  any person who does not agree to stipulate to the
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          2  following as material conditions of the contract if

          3  there is another person who will contract to supply

          4  goods, services or construction of comparable

          5  quality at a comparable price:

          6                 1) the contractor and its affiliates

          7  shall not during the term of a contract sell or

          8  agree to sell goods or services to Sudan, the

          9  Government of Sudan or any entity owned or

         10  controlled by the Government of Sudan.

         11                 2) None of the goods in a contract to

         12  supply goods originated in Sudan.

         13                 3) The contractor and its affiliates

         14  do not do business in Sudan or are actively engaged

         15  in the withdrawal of their operations from Sudan and

         16  will have completed such withdrawal in six months.

         17                 4) The contractor and its affiliates

         18  shall not make new investments in Sudan.

         19                 Intro. No. 555 exempts companies from

         20  the provisions of this local law who provide certain

         21  medical supplies only to Sudan.

         22                 The Mayor shall designate an agency

         23  or agencies to collect information concerning

         24  entities doing business in Sudan and to maintain

         25  records of contractors which have or have not agreed
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          2  to the conditions of the legislation.

          3                 In October of each year, such agency

          4  or agencies shall submit a report to the Mayor and

          5  the Council setting forth information concerning

          6  contractors that have or have not agreed to the

          7  terms of the legislation during the previous fiscal

          8  year.

          9                 The Mayor shall also designate an

         10  agency to collect information concerning whether

         11  entities withdrawing from Sudan have given or agreed

         12  to give advance notification to their Sudanese

         13  employees and representative trade unions of the

         14  planned termination of investment not less than six

         15  months prior to such termination and have engaged or

         16  agreed to engage in good faith negotiations with

         17  such representative unions or organizations

         18  regarding the terms of such terminations.

         19                 In October of each year, the agency

         20  shall submit a report to the Mayor an Council

         21  containing such information.

         22                 Before we have our first witness, I

         23  will call on the Speaker of the Council, the

         24  Honorable Peter F. Vallone, for his remarks.

         25                 SPEAKER VALLONE: Thank you, Madam
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          2  Chair. And I want to thank the many witnesses who

          3  have appeared today and the people that are sitting

          4  in the audience and my colleagues, Council Members

          5  Sabini and Carrion and others who will be joining us

          6  as the day goes on.

          7                 People are asking me the same

          8  questions that they asked prior on other occasions,

          9  what business does New York City have getting

         10  involved in politics in a country halfway across the

         11  world. The same people asked the same question when

         12  New York City divested from South Africa three years

         13  before the federal government helping to liberate

         14  that country from the chains of apartheid. What

         15  business does the City of New York have in getting

         16  involved in foreign policy? Ask the thousands of

         17  Holocaust survivors and families who have turned to

         18  us for help in recovering money stolen by the Nazis

         19  and held in Swiss banks. The first hearing on that

         20  was right here in City Hall.

         21                 No, the New York City Council is not

         22  the United Nations. We can take a stand against

         23  injustice and we can indeed effect change.

         24                 The situation in Sudan is deplorable.

         25  There are no human rights in Sudan. There is no
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          2  religious freedom. There is nothing similar to the

          3  fight that is going on right now in the City of New

          4  York where we fight, many of us, to allow people to

          5  disagree, to allow people to show things that offend

          6  our own religion. Under our freedom, freedom calls

          7  for allowing people to disagree, even if you don't

          8  agree with what they say or what they paint or the

          9  books that they write. That is the principle upon

         10  which this country is formed.

         11                 There is oppression, persecution,

         12  murder, rape, and forced conversion in Sudan. So

         13  what can the City Council do? We can, as we have

         14  before, take a stand against injustice and say that

         15  if you are not going to do business, if you are

         16  going to do business with a terrorist nation that

         17  still practices slavery, among other things, you are

         18  not going to do business with the City of New York.

         19  That is the most we can do from the City of New

         20  York, but there is a lot more that others can do and

         21  that this nation can do.

         22                 So, that being said, I will give it

         23  back to Madam Chair, who has been very gracious in

         24  these hearings and who has presided over all of the

         25  things that I just mentioned in my very brief
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          2  statement.

          3                 Madam Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: First, let me

          5  just say that if you wish to offer testimony you

          6  will have to have an appearance card. So, if you

          7  have not done so, and you wish to testify, there is

          8  the Sergeant-At-Arms, and would you please raise

          9  your hand, and there you will go in order to make

         10  known your desire to testify.

         11                 We want you also to be aware that we

         12  want to hear each of you, as many as we can, and we

         13  want you to know that we are not the scribes who

         14  wrote the Holy Writ, and we do not want to have the

         15  77 Books of the Bible today. We only want to have

         16  enough of the testimony so that as many witnesses as

         17  possible can be heard. And we can proceed, this will

         18  be the first hearing, there will be others, so save

         19  some, send us if you must additional testimonies or

         20  anything that you cannot include. At this time you

         21  can submit a statement or additions in writing, but

         22  we would like to get to the gist of your testimony.

         23  We want this to be a meaningful hearing, but we

         24  would like to have as many people heard as possible.

         25                 Our first witness will be Edwin

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            10

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Cornwell. Please sit down and please identify

          3  yourself by name, title and organization.

          4                 Would you please identify yourself by

          5  name, title and organization? Thank you. Would you

          6  pull the microphone close to you, and if it is not

          7  on, press the red button and speak into the mic.

          8                 PASTOR CORNWELL: My name is Edwin S.

          9  Cornwell. I represent an NGO by the name of Safe

         10  Harbor. I am an Associate Pastor of a church in

         11  California by the name of Calvary Chapel Rancho

         12  Santa Margarita.

         13                 I thank you for allowing me the

         14  opportunity to testify. As a part of this

         15  organization Safe Harbor, I have made approximately

         16  20 visits into Southern Sudan over the last four and

         17  a half years. I have a map here of the Southern

         18  Sudan that is outlined with the blue border. On

         19  approximately the 18th of this last June we were in

         20  Southern Kordofan and Southern Blue Nile, in which

         21  we had received a report of a military invasion

         22  within that yellow diamond and we were asked to

         23  visit with emergency medicines. On the 21st of June

         24  of this year, we visited the County of Ruweng, the

         25  City of Gumerak, in the far right-hand corner of the
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          2  yellow triangle or diamond. And the report that I

          3  would like to make goes as follows:

          4                 This particular area that I am

          5  referring to was subject to recent raids by the

          6  Government of Sudan and the Muslim regime soldiers.

          7  In the month of May of this year, 1,200 government

          8  of Sudan forces swept through Ruweng County and

          9  Western Upper Nile, killing scores of civilians,

         10  abducting hundreds and burning over 6,000 homes.

         11  They burned villages, a hospital, 17 churches and

         12  traditional shrines.

         13                 In a ten-day offensive, Antonov

         14  bombers, helicopter gunships, tanks and artillery

         15  attacked civilians across a 100-kilometer swathe of

         16  territory. This is in flagrant violation of a

         17  ceasefire signed between the Sudanese Government and

         18  the SPLA in August of 1998, and this was a result of

         19  the famine that occurred in 1998.

         20                 Offensives began on the 9th of May

         21  and 10th with aerial bombardments by to Antonov

         22  bombers which dropped 48 bombs, followed by

         23  helicopter gunship attack.

         24                 The continued with the two-prong

         25  attack on numerous villages, including Gumerak, in
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          2  which we visited, where they killed 11 innocent

          3  civilians on May 11th. In Ladir Village on May 15th,

          4  nine were killed, Adia on May 16th three were

          5  killed, Pondid on May 19th seven were killed,

          6  Jonjang on May 20th six were killed, and Nagonee on

          7  May 22nd two were killed there, and Nokamil on the

          8  23rd of May five were killed (all the

          9  above-mentioned villages were spelled phonetically).

         10                 The survivors of this raid are now

         11  living in the bush without shelter, food or water

         12  and with no medical supplies. The government of

         13  Sudan troops deliberately burned their food stores

         14  and killed their livestock.

         15                 The area has received little or no

         16  aid due to the insecurity of the region. Thousands

         17  now face a slow death from starvation.

         18                 Ruweng County, as we have put in the

         19  yellow diamond at the right corner, borders the oil

         20  fields of Southern Sudan, the particular area of

         21  Heglig. In late June of '99, the Government of

         22  Khartoum Regime began to pump oil in that area with

         23  a 1,600 kilometer pipeline for export to the port of

         24  Sudan. An oil consortium led by the Canadian Company

         25  Talisman has pumped hundreds of millions of dollars

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            13

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  into the oil project, clearing the black African

          3  peoples of South Sudan and the SPLA from these areas

          4  is vital to this oil project. Without the oil

          5  revenues, it is unlikely the Khartoum Regime can

          6  continue its war in South Sudan.

          7                 I am a personal witness to this

          8  atrocity. I interviewed scores of people and I have

          9  video testimony that I would like to submit as well

         10  in which all of this will be clearly seen. It is my

         11  heart, it is my prayer that the great City of New

         12  York would take into consideration the suffering.

         13  The things that are atrocities that man cannot

         14  really understand and we saw this with our own eyes,

         15  we heard it with testimony with our own ears, and I

         16  thank you very much for listening.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Can you tell me

         18  about these photos?

         19                 PASTOR CORNWELL: Thank you, yes. On

         20  the B, where it says Sudan Photos B, on the very

         21  bottom you will see that aircraft, that was

         22  emergency medical supplies that we were bringing

         23  into the areas, the people that experienced this

         24  military invasion of their own homelands because

         25  these people in the area are indigenous to this
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          2  area.

          3                 As you see the man on the upper

          4  left-hand corner is sitting on the ashes of his

          5  home, and he was giving his testimony to the

          6  invasion and on where it says Sudan Photos A, the

          7  same man on the upper left, that is his bombshelter

          8  in which he has been subject to numerous bombing

          9  raids and that was his protection.

         10                 Since this particular invasion was

         11  more than just bombing, his own family had to leave

         12  the area and he was the only one left.

         13                 This woman on the upper right, she

         14  was one of the indigenous people from the area, she

         15  gave us testimony. She was living in a tent that is

         16  depicted in the video's testimony, and she was

         17  expressing how her own family was slaughtered in

         18  this invasion.

         19                 The middle picture in the left is the

         20  cattle that were looted in one of the raids. In the

         21  far left photos on the upper right was a hospital

         22  that was burned to the ground, and what is also a

         23  part of the helicopter gunship raid.

         24                 On the bottom right-hand corner is

         25  where a bomb had been dropped, the shrapnel from the
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          2  bomb that we have our hands on. On the right-hand

          3  column -- excuse me, the left-hand column there are

          4  two particular pictures of homes and buildings that

          5  had been reduced to ashes. We through this had

          6  approximately 14 people that we took testimony from

          7  as to the particular events that were a part of this

          8  raid and what took place.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BERMAN: This is A, what

         10  is the significance of this material here?

         11                 PASTOR CORNWELL: I am sorry, I didn't

         12  hear you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: The significance

         14  of A1, A4, A5, A6?

         15                 PASTOR CORNWELL: A1 is the gentleman

         16  that is also on the B photo, on the upper left

         17  there, B1, and he is showing his bomb shelter on A1.

         18                 On A2, this is the burned out area

         19  that was torched by the regime that came in after

         20  the bombing and after the helicopter gunships.

         21  Because it was a scorched earth policy. They burnt

         22  everything, including the food. If they did not take

         23  the cattle, they burnt them. The same with A3.

         24                 A6 is the shrapnel that was in the

         25  bombed crater that we are pointing to, and A4 is the
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          2  hospital infirmary that was burned out and also the

          3  helicopter gunships had shot within this hospital

          4  area.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you.

          6                 PASTOR CORNWELL: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

          8  Carrion.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you,

         10  Madam Chair.

         11                 Reverend, just stay for a moment so I

         12  can ask you a couple of questions. Just a couple of

         13  facts that I think are important for the record, as

         14  we begin to develop a record of this.

         15                 First of all, you mentioned the

         16  acronym NGO, what is that?

         17                 PASTOR CORNWELL: Non-governmental

         18  organization.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: And what

         20  organization do you represent?

         21                 PASTOR CORNWELL: Safe Harbor is the

         22  name of the NGO, and we are incorporated in the

         23  State of California through the Church Calvary

         24  Rancho Santa Margarita, through the Church Calvary

         25  Chapel Rancho Santa Margarita.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: What is the

          3  work that you do in Sudan?

          4                 PASTOR CORNWELL: Our work in Sudan is

          5  primarily to provide comfort to the Christians that

          6  have been going through the genocide, the atrocities

          7  that have been taking place in Southern Sudan. We

          8  come to help them through medical aid, we bring

          9  doctors, have clinics, we also bring pharmaceuticals

         10  to help them because they have no pharmacies for the

         11  various diseases that they experience.

         12                 We also bring in food. In May of last

         13  year there was a famine in Southern Sudan and we

         14  were in t here to bring food goods to the famine.

         15                 So, the point of our ministry is to

         16  whatever the needs are the greatest, we come to help

         17  them and then in doing that we show the love of God.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: And how long

         19  have you been doing this work in Sudan?

         20                 PASTOR CORNWELL: Four and a half

         21  years.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: You mentioned

         23  in your testimony very quickly about the Canadian

         24  oil company Talisman.

         25                 PASTOR CORNWELL: Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Talisman

          3  Energy.

          4                 PASTOR CORNWELL: Yes, sir.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: What do you

          6  know of them? And do you know anything about, and

          7  maybe there is somebody else here that could

          8  elaborate a little bit on this company, but any

          9  relations that they have to any American companies

         10  doing business there?

         11                 PASTOR CORNWELL: Well, all I know is

         12  that Talisman is a Canadian company and we have

         13  heard that they have oil fields within the area that

         14  is outlined with yellow within that diamond there,

         15  and the people, the indigenous people in Ruweng

         16  County were pointing out that the warfare that has

         17  intensified to a tremendous degree at this

         18  particular time is a direct result of the government

         19  of Sudan desiring to clear them out of the area in

         20  which the oil is being extracted.

         21                 They are extremely bitter because

         22  they feel this is their resources and they know the

         23  oil is being pumped to the north, ultimately to the

         24  port of Sudan. They also realize this oil goes to

         25  refineries that will further enable airplanes that
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          2  drop bombs on them to be given the energy for that.

          3                 So, this was through testimony that

          4  we received with the people on the ground that

          5  Talisman was the group that was providing the

          6  technology and had a natural field within the area

          7  we visited.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you,

          9  Reverend.

         10                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         11                 PASTOR CORNWELL: Thank you. Are there

         12  any other questions that I might be able to answer?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: No. Thank you.

         14                 At this time we are going to call on

         15  Bill Saunders, who is going to give a brief

         16  statement, and he will be followed by testimony from

         17  our Comptroller.

         18                 You are going to give us a brief

         19  statement; is that what I understand?

         20                 MR. SAUNDERS: Yes, I have submitted a

         21  statement. I apologize, it is in handwriting because

         22  my printer wasn't working over the weekend, so it

         23  should be a Xerox of this handwritten.

         24                 There are a couple of attached

         25  documents to it which I will reference as I give you
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          2  my statement and tell you what they are.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes, we have

          4  those, and they are part of your record.

          5                 You may begin.

          6                 MR. SAUNDERS: Good morning. I am a

          7  Human Rights lawyer in Washington, D.C., I am

          8  currently Human Rights Council at the Family

          9  Research Council. But my interest in Sudan goes back

         10  many years.

         11                 About six years ago I became very

         12  interested in a situation in Sudan which in my

         13  opinion was an overlooked Holocaust. Last Christmas

         14  I was invited to Sudan by Bishop Macram Gassis, and

         15  I went to two areas which are among the most

         16  devastated areas of the country, the Nuba Mountains

         17  and Bahr el Ghazal.  I don't have time much to

         18  detail all of the horrors I saw, but I would like to

         19  suggest that you keep in mind two phrases, one for

         20  each of these reasons, one for the Nuba Mountains

         21  and one for Bahr el Ghazal, which I think will

         22  summarize the situation in those areas.

         23                 The first phrase is the bombing of

         24  civilians, and the second phrase is the branding of

         25  children.
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          2                 The Nuba Mountains is a very desolate

          3  area. The Nuba people have been forced by the

          4  government of Sudan to flee their ancestral pastor

          5  land into the parch landscape of the Nuba Mountains.

          6  There the people are living, though the only water

          7  they have they have to dig out of the ground with

          8  their hands.

          9                 The Sudanese government has denied

         10  all relief flights to the Nuba Mountains for the

         11  last ten years. But even in the midst of this

         12  desolation, the Sudanese government will not leave

         13  the people alone. Instead, it continues to drop

         14  cluster bombs and shrapnel bombs on the people. It

         15  bombs people any time its planes spot them, it

         16  targets civilians.

         17                 In fact, I was there during

         18  Christmastime and during Christmas Mass they

         19  attempted to bomb us but they were unable to find us

         20  because we were hidden underneath the trees. So even

         21  during the holy month of Ramadon (phonetic), even on

         22  Christmas day, these raids against civilians

         23  continued.

         24                 So, I would suggest that any time

         25  anyone hears an airplane flying overhead, think of
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          2  the Nuba people because this is the most dreaded

          3  sound they hear. Every time we heard an airplane

          4  when I was in the Nuba Mountains, we had to run for

          5  shelter.

          6                 The second place I visited was Bahr

          7  el Ghazal. This is the Dinka land and this is the

          8  area which is the most frequent target of slave

          9  raids. I have personally met with over 100 children

         10  who had formerly been slaves, all or nearly all of

         11  them are orphans. Why are they orphans? Because

         12  their parents were murdered before their eyes when

         13  they were kidnapped into slavery by Moslem

         14  tribesmen.

         15                 Now, some of these kids were as young

         16  as eight years old. That means they had been

         17  kidnapped when they were five or six years old and

         18  they had been in slavery for a couple of years. They

         19  had either been redeemed or some of them had

         20  escaped. Some of them had been in slavery for over

         21  ten years, and there were young women of 18 or 19

         22  who told terrible stories of their treatment.

         23                 Maybe the most horrific thing of all

         24  was that these children had been branded like you

         25  would brand an animal, on their foreheads or on
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          2  their arms or on their cheeks with the mark of their

          3  owner.

          4                 Again, I would simply suggest that

          5  every time you see your own children or you see

          6  children, think about what must it be like for the

          7  families of these children and for the children

          8  themselves when they are kidnapped into slavery and

          9  branded like animals.

         10                 When I returned from Sudan, as I say,

         11  I became a consultant, a family research counsel on

         12  human rights, I continue to work with Sudanese

         13  Bishop Macram Gassis in trying to raise awareness

         14  and raise the funds to help the people in Northern

         15  Bahr el Ghazal and in the Nuba Mountains, and I have

         16  just published a briefing paper which I have

         17  attached to my testimony, called genocide in Sudan,

         18  in which I argue and I leave it up to anyone to read

         19  the genocide treaty and decide for themselves that

         20  what is going on in Sudan is the calculated effort

         21  to exterminate cultural, racial and religious

         22  enemies of the Sudanese government.

         23                 I have also attached to my paper a

         24  statement that I think is the most significant

         25  document that I have come across having to do with
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          2  Sudan. It is an appeal from the Catholic Bishops of

          3  all of Eastern Africa. It is not just the Sudanese

          4  Bishops, it is all the Bishops of Eastern Africa and

          5  they call on the world to do something to help the

          6  Sudanese people.

          7                 I hope the City Council of New York

          8  City will do what it can to help.

          9                 Also, I have some photographs which I

         10  did not bring, but if the City Council would like to

         11  see them, I can send you photographs of the

         12  children. I have photographs of the bombs and the

         13  shrapnel, and I would be happy to provide those for

         14  you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: And we would be

         16  happy to have those photographs, if you could share

         17  them with us. Thank you.

         18                 MR. SAUNDERS: Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: First of all, I

         20  would like to thank you for your testimony and

         21  commend you for your concerns. You said you have

         22  been doing this for how many years?

         23                 MR. SAUNDERS: About seven years.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: About seven

         25  years. I think one of the greatest tragedies is not
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          2  only what is happening in the Sudan, but it is the

          3  absence of so many voices that should have been

          4  raised, as well as yours, and those people who are

          5  here today on this issue.

          6                 It is not a silent issue, is it?

          7                 MR. SAUNDERS: No, it really is a

          8  tragedy that so many people have been silent for so

          9  long. As I said, when I got interested about seven

         10  years ago, it was because all of a sudden I had

         11  discovered this terrible situation which I was never

         12  hearing about. So, there are a number of people who

         13  will testify here today who helped educate me to

         14  what was going on and I am really very pleased that

         15  the City Council is interested in this situation,

         16  because silence is the friend of oppression.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Was there ever

         18  any attempt by you or your colleagues or anyone from

         19  your organization to contact members of the Sudanese

         20  Government regarding the plight of the people who

         21  were being so oppressed and so badly treated?

         22                 MR. SAUNDERS: Well, the people I work

         23  with have all been in contact with the Sudanese

         24  Government. Bishop Gassis, for instance, he is a

         25  northern Sudanese citizen. He is of mixed Arab and
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          2  Black African parentage and he speaks Arabic and he

          3  knows the leaders of the country. So, we have been

          4  in contact with them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Has there been,

          6  as a result of their conference, has there been any

          7  alleviation of this kind of horrible treatment?

          8                 MR. SAUNDERS: No, there has been

          9  none. In fact, I would say that over the last year

         10  or so, or two years it has increased, and in my

         11  opinion, the slavery that goes on, it is horrible

         12  enough that it is slavery, but it is also a weapon

         13  of cultural and religious and ethnic genocide.

         14                 They want to use slavery to destroy

         15  these Africans, and the bombing is another weapon to

         16  force people off their homes. You will find in my

         17  report and in other reports that sometimes the

         18  refugees go into peace camps, so-called peace camps

         19  where they are denied food if they don't convert to

         20  Islam. I mean, they are really concentration camps.

         21  So, there has been no improvement.

         22                 And what I am afraid of, with the

         23  possibility of developing the oil fields, is that

         24  the Sudanese Government will have extra weapons to

         25  buy more arms and kill more people.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Has there been

          3  any dialogue with the oil companies, the

          4  corporations, in reference to what goes on in that

          5  country, the treatment of the people, the oppression

          6  of the children, the murders, slaughter?

          7                 MR. SAUNDERS: Well, others have

          8  spoken with them. I think Charles Jacobs, who is

          9  going to testify today, has been in touch with them

         10  and others, I think Jim Geist and others. I have not

         11  personally spoken with them, but I know others have,

         12  and I know there is a prominent Sudanese refugee

         13  named Bona Malwahl who lives in London and I know he

         14  has spoken with them as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: But to your

         16  knowledge there has not been an appreciable change?

         17                 MR. SAUNDERS: No. As far as I am

         18  aware there has been no appreciable change.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Are there any

         20  other questions?

         21                 Okay. Thank you so very much for your

         22  testimony.

         23                 MR. SAUNDERS: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: And we would

         25  appreciate having those photographs. Thank you.
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          2                 Our Comptroller. Would you please,

          3  for the record, identify yourself by name and title.

          4  I don't think we know who you are.

          5                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: My name is Alan

          6  Hevesi, I am City Comptroller, and I work for the

          7  New York City Council.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you.

          9                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Thank you, Madam

         10  Chair, for inviting me to testify to members of the

         11  Committee. I do not have a prepared statement. I did

         12  have one, the facts changed over the weekend and we

         13  haven't revised the statement. But I would like to

         14  make some observations and to read some items into

         15  the record.

         16                 To place this issue in context, and

         17  each of us has our own frame of reference, I was

         18  walking over here from the municipal building with

         19  my Deputy Comptroller and friend Jack Chardiae, who

         20  said do you remember that movie from a couple of

         21  decades ago The Ugly American? The Ugly American

         22  told the tale of American involvement in Southeast

         23  Asia, it starred Marlon Brando, and how American

         24  missteps contributed to horrible violence and

         25  killing and the loss of innocent life, and it was a
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          2  well-done film that grabbed the viewer until the

          3  very end when the concluding scene sort of told the

          4  story of American attitudes to far away places.

          5  Because the film, which engulfs us, ends up, the

          6  last scene is on a television screen in the home of

          7  some anonymous American who simply gets up as the

          8  last commentary and walks over to the television and

          9  turned off the screen, as if we were not interested.

         10  And I suggest that is what is going on in the Sudan

         11  now, it fits that pattern and should not.

         12                 Let me, if I may, read into the

         13  record an article that was written in the

         14  International Herald Tribune one month ago.

         15                 And I quote, it was written by Susan

         16  Reiss from the American State Department and David

         17  Schepper. "Sudan's borders however" -- I am skipping

         18  over to read pieces of it, but you will get the

         19  essential theme -- "Sudan's borders however reveal a

         20  world of famine, slavery, torture, religious

         21  persecution, rape, massacres, pillaging and looting.

         22  With millions affected, the Sudanese population and

         23  the world community should not be persuaded by the

         24  new government rhetoric."

         25                 The opening theme of this article was
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          2  that there were explanations made by a new Islamic

          3  Government.

          4                 "Sudan has been engulfed by brutal

          5  civil war since 1983. For years southern rebels have

          6  fought for a democratic secular Sudan that would

          7  guarantee equal rights for those southern Sudanese

          8  who have been treated as second class citizens for

          9  far too long.

         10                 The Sudanese government, which

         11  displaced a democratically elected government in

         12  1989, has engaged in the policy to divide and

         13  destroy, destroy the people of the predominantly

         14  Christian and animus south.  It uses terror against

         15  civilians as a weapon of choice and pits different

         16  ethnic groups against each other, resulting in

         17  southern factional fighting that has complicated the

         18  overall situation.

         19                 The scale of death and destruction

         20  has reached staggering proportions. Credible

         21  estimates from Human Rights organizations suggest

         22  that 2 million people have perished and 4 million

         23  have been internally displaced with nearly 400,000

         24  people forced to live in neighboring countries as

         25  refugees. Many of the displaced live without
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          2  adequate food and shelter in constant fear of

          3  government assaults."

          4                 A report by Susan Reiss to the

          5  Congress of the United States condemns, indicts the

          6  Sudanese Government. This is in testimony before the

          7  Subcommittee on Africa and the International

          8  Operations Human Rights Committee of the House

          9  International Relations Committee.

         10                 "We condemn and strenuously oppose

         11  the Sudanese Government's active sponsorship of

         12  international terrorism. The Government has allowed

         13  international terrorists, such as Saudi financier

         14  Usama Binladin and the Hamas Organization Safe Haven

         15  in Sudan has established training camps for

         16  extremist militants, and also it was involved in the

         17  assassination attempt Egyptian President Hosni

         18  Mubarak.

         19                 Second, the regime continues to

         20  destabilize neighboring states through its

         21  assistance to a range of organizations" -- I will

         22  skip.

         23                 "Third, the Government of Sudan

         24  systematically violates the human rights of its own

         25  citizens, torture, religious persecution, slavery

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  and forced imposition of Sharia Law, Muslim Law, on

          3  Sudanese throughout the country are pervasive and

          4  well documented."

          5                 And finally, "Fourth, the Government

          6  of Sudan continues to prosecute a vicious war

          7  strategy in the south that is the direct cause of

          8  much of the starvation that is now killing so many

          9  in Southern Sudan.

         10                 Quite simply, the policies and

         11  practices of the Government directly put at risk the

         12  lives of hundreds of thousands of innocent people."

         13                 So, in summary that is the

         14  circumstance we confront. Now, what is it the

         15  business of the New York City government and New

         16  York City Council to get involved with issues of

         17  international politics? Let me just by way of

         18  background tell you what our attitude has been in

         19  the Comptroller's Office and in the halls of the

         20  City Council historically. Sometimes when our own

         21  State Department was not happy with our involvement,

         22  we got involved.

         23                 The Apartheid Campaign, the Campaign

         24  to End Apartheid was led by State and local

         25  governments and then private businesses in what
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          2  ended up a campaign recommending, after many years

          3  of alternative strategies, calls for disinvestment

          4  in South Africa.

          5                 The MacBride Principles Campaign for

          6  fair employment in Northern Ireland was originated

          7  in 1984 in the Office of the Comptroller of the City

          8  of New York. I wasn't there at the time, although I

          9  was a lead sponsor of the legislation in New York

         10  creating the MacBride Campaign, which as of last

         11  week has 17 states that have passed such laws and 30

         12  cities, California was the most recent, a week ago.

         13  And that campaign, without the threat of sanctions,

         14  without the threat of punishment, has persuaded most

         15  businesses that do business in Northern Ireland to

         16  abide by fair employment principles, motivated the

         17  British Government to pass a fair employment law,

         18  and that has been helpful in the peace process.

         19                 Three years ago the World Jewish

         20  Congress asked our involvement in the Comptroller's

         21  Office, along with Senator Alphonse D'Amato and

         22  others, to enter the effort to get European

         23  government to make restitution to Holocaust victims.

         24  We were deeply involved in the first effort with

         25  respect to the Swiss Government, after three years
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          2  of pleading and persuasion, we organized, my office,

          3  I organized 900 financial officers into a network

          4  and that network ultimately had to threaten

          5  sanctions at the end of a process that resulted in

          6  the payment of $1,650,000,000 in restitution, and I

          7  will tell you that negotiations are ongoing with

          8  Germany, with Austria and with France and before 12

          9  months are out we will have I believe similar

         10  restitution programs.

         11                 So, we have long experienced in these

         12  kinds of issues, and our attitudes towards the State

         13  Department, for the record, is, and I was asked many

         14  times, particularly by European hostile press, how

         15  can you get involved in these issues, and I said,

         16  look, we are not involved with foreign policy, but

         17  we have a right as Americans to decide with whom we

         18  do business, and if there are governments or

         19  international businesses that want to participate in

         20  the global economy, they will have to abide by

         21  international values.

         22                 Having said that, let me talk about

         23  the specifics of this case and why I would recommend

         24  we proceed. We have never believed in sanctions of

         25  whatever form or disinvestment to be the beginning
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          2  of a process of our involvement, only the end of a

          3  process. Because the fear is once you utilized and

          4  implemented the sanctions, you lose your leverage.

          5                 If you disinvest in a company at

          6  first, and cut yourself off from that company, you

          7  end your ability to effect their policy. If you sell

          8  your shares, you can't go to their shareholder

          9  meetings and raise issues to change their governance

         10  policy. If you plan a trade war, as we ultimately

         11  did with Switzerland, once you do that, you are now

         12  at war and all of the macho attributes of conflict

         13  take over.

         14                 And so, we believe in a graded series

         15  of steps taken by us, by local government, by the

         16  Council, by the State Legislature in these issues

         17  that build to a circumstance of success, and only in

         18  the last resort do we take action.

         19                 The Council has draft legislation

         20  regarding the Sudan circumstance that I would

         21  recommend should be delayed or revised so that it is

         22  part of a somewhat longer process of involvement,

         23  because what the legislation provides currently is

         24  that all businesses doing business or contracting in

         25  New York will be barred from doing so if they have
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          2  any relations with Sudan. And most of the provisions

          3  that are in this bill have already been covered by

          4  actions of the State Department which declared a ban

          5  on activity with the Sudan.

          6                 So, I would propose with respect the

          7  following: That the Council as a first step pass a

          8  very forceful resolution denouncing the Sudanese

          9  Government, the oppression in the Sudan, the

         10  violence, the torture, the rape, the massacres, and

         11  declare as a matter of public policy that it will be

         12  the responsibility of the City of New York and its

         13  government agencies to proceed along a path of a

         14  variety of strategies attempting to influence both

         15  the Sudanese Government and any businesses that may

         16  participate in supporting that government and its

         17  oppression.

         18                 Two, I would be glad to join you in

         19  arranging a meeting with the State Department

         20  officials so that what we do here will dovetail with

         21  what we do there, because I believe they have now

         22  crossed the threshold that forceful action must be

         23  taken.

         24                 And three, that we draft legislation

         25  that will have a series of steps, graded steps of
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          2  increased severity over periods of time with cooling

          3  off periods that will allow a change in policy and

          4  that we focus that on businesses that are involved

          5  in the Sudan.

          6                 The main thrust right now, two

          7  substantial issues, one, you have heard about the

          8  Talisman Energy Company, and that company has

          9  holdings and is digging for material resources in

         10  the Sudan and it is alleged that they have played an

         11  awful role in supporting the governments of Sudan

         12  and providing resources and providing fuel for the

         13  military and providing cash that allows the war to

         14  continue.

         15                 Talisman is a Canadian company. Our

         16  pension funds own 186,000 shares. Friday I spoke to

         17  Mr. Buckee to begin the process of our attempting to

         18  influence their policy. We should have a little time

         19  in order to see if that will bear fruit.

         20                 One exception to the ban on trade

         21  with Sudan that the State Department implemented was

         22  a one-year extension for the acquisition by

         23  pharmaceutical companies Coca Cola and Pepsi Cola of

         24  gum arabic, which is a material that they use in

         25  some way that I don't understand. But there is a
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          2  one-year waiver, one-year extension which is either

          3  over now or soon to be over.

          4                 We want an opportunity to connect

          5  with CocaCola and Pepsi so that they can play a

          6  positive, rather than a negative role, in pumping

          7  revenues into the Sudan.

          8                 We own, I have the numbers here --

          9  what is this 54 shares, it has to be 54 million

         10  shares -- we own lots of shares of Pepsi Cola and

         11  Coca Cola, and we want to effect their behavior, and

         12  we want the opportunity to do that. So, what we are

         13  suggesting is working jointly, we have some

         14  experience, you have some experience, the Council

         15  was very helpful at the end game in the Swiss

         16  process by passing legislation at the end of the

         17  process that brought the Swiss to their senses, that

         18  we work a joint strategy of graded sequence of

         19  activities and pressure points with our mutual

         20  connections to people involved in the Sudan in order

         21  to change policy.

         22                 If after a relatively short period of

         23  time that doesn't work then I recommend that we cut

         24  off all relations with businesses that do business

         25  in Sudan, but we want that opportunity, and we
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          2  should declare effective today out mutual outrage at

          3  the extraordinary loss of life, killing of innocent

          4  people, massacres, slaughter and rape that goes on

          5  in the name of public policy in Sudan by an

          6  undemocratic government that apparently views its

          7  opposition as untermention (phonetic), that is a

          8  German term that was applied by Nazi Germany to

          9  Jews, Gypsies, Russians, Polls, anyone they wish to

         10  justify to slaughter and to kill, by declaring them

         11  untermention, which means sub-human, it becomes more

         12  humanely possible to kill someone else, if they are

         13  not humanbeings you don't have any empathy for them,

         14  and that process apparently is going on in the Sudan

         15  as well.

         16                 So, I applaud the Council for your

         17  interest, for your leadership. We are delighted to

         18  work with you. We think there are many strategies

         19  that should be considered and a number that should

         20  be employed and we will be glad to form an alliance

         21  with you in doing that.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Mr. Comptroller,

         24  first of all, I would like to thank you for your

         25  willingness to work with us; however, I think that
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          2  you said the German word, what is it?

          3                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Untermention.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Untermention. In

          5  prior testimony this has been likened unto a

          6  Holocaust, and I don't know -- I know everyone in

          7  this room is very, very young, but there used to be

          8  a TV personality, David Susskind, and he had a

          9  television show, and I recall one of the shows he

         10  had, where there were some German Jews who came and

         11  they berated American Jews, because their question

         12  was, where were you? Why didn't you help? Why did

         13  you let this happen? Why weren't you there when we

         14  needed you? We were there and no one said anything.

         15                 It seems to me that if we have been

         16  negotiating for two years, we have said in very

         17  quiet and sedate ways this is an outrage, something

         18  ought to be done.

         19                 We have said to them you cannot

         20  murder, you cannot rape, you cannot plunder, you

         21  cannot destroy, you cannot enslave. Now, to me

         22  slavery is an atrocious term. I know it is to you.

         23  Most people know about slavery but I think that one

         24  reason people are very quiet about it when it comes

         25  to the Sudan, is that perhaps they think that, well,
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          2  slavery for us doesn't really matter. But it does

          3  matter. It is a very bitter experience. It is a

          4  horrible experience to see children branded, to know

          5  that their families have been destroyed, their homes

          6  have been destroyed, their entire history wiped out.

          7  It is sort of to eradicate them as a people, and so

          8  I don't think that when we keep saying silently or

          9  nicely we object, we object, and if you don't behave

         10  we are going to have to take action. It is like

         11  promising a child, if you don't do this, we are

         12  going to punish you. Not today, but maybe tomorrow,

         13  maybe the next time. But no one ever believes you,

         14  no one believes you.

         15                 I also understand the importance of

         16  your position, because you have a tremendous

         17  responsibility in that you represent the interest of

         18  the people of New York, and I, as a pension holder,

         19  want you to have that concern for me and for

         20  everyone else in this City who is depending upon you

         21  to protect the investment of all of us in our

         22  pensions. So the thing that I see very important is,

         23  the window of opportunity or the window that is

         24  needed, as far as I am concerned, is to protect the

         25  pensions of people who have worked for years and who
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          2  must have the security that those pension funds will

          3  be secure. That is to me very important. Because for

          4  some people, that is all they will ever have. That

          5  and a minuscule Social Security.

          6                 So, this is very important. And I

          7  think it is important that we work together on it,

          8  but I think that it is time for us to have a loud,

          9  clear voice. Just because we remember the Holocaust,

         10  and maybe if people had spoken out louder, sooner,

         11  rather than later, there wouldn't have been Belsen

         12  and all of the other places. We might have gotten

         13  Hitler in time. We might have stopped all of the

         14  killing earlier, and I think we have to do this. We

         15  ought to speak up earlier.

         16                 And I think that there are people who

         17  are good business people, but I find that banks are

         18  making more money and they have made more money in

         19  the last ten years than they have ever made before.

         20  And do you know what they are doing? They have taken

         21  the tellers away, they have reduced the services,

         22  and now they are asking for an increased fee for

         23  services they don't give you. They are now charging

         24  you for -- what is that machine that you go to the

         25  window for? For the ATM. They are not giving you
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          2  anything, they hardly clean it up, they took the

          3  security out of the bank and they are charging you

          4  more for that.

          5                 The telephone company says now you

          6  have a bill but it is true we are moving the little

          7  offices away, you can call this number, we are

          8  closing your neighborhood office, but you can always

          9  call this 1-800 so and so number, you may get

         10  Virginia, Rhode Island, Texas, but call us and in

         11  the meantime it will cost you more money. I think

         12  life is more important than that. I think it is more

         13  important than that.

         14                 So, I think that people who make

         15  money do not give up money. The more they make, the

         16  more they want to make. And life becomes less

         17  important than the lives they lose and give up,

         18  except their lives, except their lives.

         19                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: May I respond so

         20  that there is no misapprehension upon the part of

         21  anyone who heard your statement? I am sure you did

         22  not wish to convey that the recommendations I have

         23  made --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Not at all.

         25                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI:-- Were intended
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          2  to delay any powerful strong response.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: No.

          4                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: What I am trying

          5  to avoid is the gesture that has no practical effect

          6  that may make some of us feel good, may even be good

          7  politics, but has not effect on the outcome of the

          8  issue. And since we have wide experience in the

          9  alternative strategies that can be applied in

         10  different environments, I think we ought to consider

         11  those very, very carefully. So, I just wanted to

         12  make sure there was no misunderstanding.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: The bill for

         14  South Africa came through this Committee, the bill

         15  for the MacBride bill came through this Committee,

         16  they came through this Committee, all of them, every

         17  one of them. And when they came from Canada and they

         18  came, and priests and whatnot, we talked. And what

         19  they said, oh, we don't need the same thing that

         20  they had in South Africa because it is not the same.

         21  The only thing that was different was the

         22  nomenclature. But it was really the same thing

         23  because what they were suffering from was the fact

         24  that if they were really Irish Catholic, if they

         25  went to the wrong school they couldn't get a job,
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          2  they couldn't move ahead, and they needed someone to

          3  unlock a door, and they needed not to be

          4  discriminated against.

          5                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: That's true. And

          6  the beauty of the MacBride legislation was it did

          7  not --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: And they also

          9  needed not to be shot. They needed not to have their

         10  children killed. They needed to get the IRA off of

         11  their backs. And that is why they were here, and

         12  that is why they were traveling up and down.

         13                 So, all I am saying to you is I

         14  understand, and I don't think for one moment that

         15  you do not mean what you are saying as the wisdom of

         16  saying there is a better way of doing it.

         17                 I also said that I understood, I

         18  understand fully, that you are supportive. You are

         19  suggesting to us an alternative that you think is

         20  going to yield a better result, a real result, and I

         21  am suggesting that possibly in the long, long,

         22  longrun it may yield a result, but I think sometimes

         23  people need to feel that we really want to see that

         24  result occur.

         25                 Someone testified who had been in
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          2  Sudan for seven years, Mr. Saunders, for seven years

          3  and he found this condition and it hasn't changed,

          4  seven years. They have met with the State

          5  Department, they know what is going on and it hasn't

          6  changed. You agree that they talked to people for

          7  two years, so that makes I think it real that the

          8  escalation, even if it is the possibility, even if

          9  it is the possibility that this is something that

         10  shouldn't occur, means that somebody ought to wake

         11  up and say, well, we don't want that to happen,

         12  let's do something. That is also another

         13  possibility, is it not?

         14                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: As I started to

         15  indicate, the beauty of the MacBride legislation was

         16  it did not call for sanctions, and it was successful

         17  without sanctions being anything but the last step.

         18                 The passage of legislation by the

         19  Council in the form that has been presented to us,

         20  in which every single provision has already been

         21  covered by action by the State Department will be a

         22  nice gesture, it will not have an influence on the

         23  outcome of the behavior of Coca Cola or Pepsi Cola

         24  or Talisman or other people, and I recommend

         25  alternative ways to proceed.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay. The only

          3  thing I would say, since we drink more Coca Cola and

          4  Pepsi than most other people, I suggest we will take

          5  it to the marketplace and see, okay? That's the only

          6  thing I can see.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Council Member

         10  Sabini.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you,

         12  Madam Chair.

         13                 Good afternoon, Mr. Comptroller.

         14  Thank you for providing us with the statistics on

         15  what the City in its pension fund stewardship owns

         16  and the companies that you spoke about because I was

         17  going to ask that.

         18                 On a related but similar topic this

         19  Committee passed out legislation last year curiously

         20  involving oil companies and softdrink companies,

         21  legislation that would cause a similar action with

         22  the Government of Burma, and I was wondering that at

         23  this point, which is now probably a year later, what

         24  the result has been? Did we divest? How much did we

         25  divest? Has there been dialogue with those
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          2  companies?

          3                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: One, we did not

          4  divest from Burma because the law prohibits us from

          5  divesting without legislative authority. And the

          6  Council does not have authority to relieve the

          7  pension funds of their fiduciary responsibilities,

          8  the State Legislature does. So there was no

          9  divesting on the basis of the standards applied to

         10  the Council bill. It's not the jurisdiction of the

         11  Council.

         12                 On the other hand, what did happen

         13  was that people opposed to local government

         14  involvement in these issues went to court in

         15  Massachusetts, and they got a federal district

         16  ruling that said local governments are not allowed

         17  to play the role that we agree we ought to be

         18  playing. So, we --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: But that is

         20  under appeal right now.

         21                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: That is under

         22  appeal. We filed an amicus brief on the general

         23  principle that that is our right to decide who we do

         24  business with and under what circumstances and that

         25  is now in a pending litigation. So, the whole Burma
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          2  issue, and extrapolated all of these involvements is

          3  now subject to a court decision.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SABINI: Thank you.

          5                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Can you tell me,

          7  did Coca Cola divest anyhow, as a result of this?

          8                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Did Coca Cola

          9  divest? No. You don't mean divest, did they get out

         10  of the business of gum arabic in the Sudan?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: No, no. I am

         12  talking about the MacBride -- Burma.

         13                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I can't tell you

         14  about Burma. I don't know what they did in Burma.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I believe they

         16  did.

         17                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Good.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Yes. Despite the

         19  fact that there was such a ruling, as you stated, I

         20  believe Coca Cola --

         21                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Well, I think you

         22  are right, and that makes my point exactly that you

         23  can accomplish a great deal, short of cutting

         24  yourself off where you lose your leverage. Forty-two

         25  businesses in Northern Ireland agreed to abide by
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          2  the MacBride Principles without being threatened

          3  with sanctions. So, I think you should exhaust those

          4  methodologies before the final action.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: But the threat

          6  of the sanctions sort of helped them along.

          7                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: In the MacBride

          8  place I don't agree with that.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Well, I think

         10  they do, and I think the priests and the others

         11  would agree.

         12                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: No, I don't think

         13  they would agree.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay.

         15                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: And I think that

         16  once you threaten anyone, it changes the whole

         17  dynamic.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: We don't want to

         19  continue this, but thank you so very much for your

         20  testimony.

         21                 Council Member Carrion is next.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you,

         23  Madam Chair. And thank you, Mr. Comptroller, for

         24  your testimony. You suggested that we should have

         25  sort of this big stick at the end of the process and
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          2  then of course in that analogy the carrot is

          3  somewhere in between and figure out a way to balance

          4  the two, and the merits of that will be discussed

          5  and we will think about it.

          6                 We have language here that I think

          7  most of us think is pretty sound, but this is why we

          8  are having these hearings.

          9                 Let me just be clear for the record

         10  on your suggestions, and then I want to get some

         11  facts out to ensure that everybody understands the

         12  role of the City Comptroller and the extent to which

         13  New York City has a stake in all of this.

         14                 First, you are simply suggesting,

         15  let's denounce the Sudanese Government and

         16  essentially threaten them through resolution, and

         17  that has some value. And then maybe pass some

         18  legislation that has increasing steps of severity,

         19  divestment or whatever other forms it might be. I

         20  think I understood that, are we correct? Are we

         21  clear?

         22                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: So then some

         24  facts. You mentioned 186,000 shares of Talisman,

         25  that we own?
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          2                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Pension funds.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Through the

          4  pension funds.

          5                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Through

          7  investment through the pension funds.

          8                 What is the value of those shares to

          9  the total universe of shares of Talisman? And what

         10  was our initial investment, the value in dollars of

         11  our --

         12                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: The 186,000

         13  shares represents about $3 million.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Yes, I

         15  thought it was $4 million. It is $3 million?

         16                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Tell me what the

         17  market is today, I will give you a more precise

         18  number.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: I am a little

         20  inflated at the moment, I guess.

         21                 Okay, 186,000 shares out of how many?

         22                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: I don't know the

         23  total.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: So we don't

         25  know what the value of our investment is in terms --
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          2                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: To us it is $3

          3  million, call it $4 million if you want. You know,

          4  if we sold all of our shares tomorrow that is the

          5  value of the shares.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: I am just

          7  trying to understand the size of our stick. If you

          8  suggest that at the end of a process of, you know,

          9  putting the squeeze in the situation, applying the

         10  squeeze in the situation, that we use a stick, how

         11  big is our stick?

         12                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Well, but the

         13  stick is not just the sale of shares, that is my

         14  point. The legislation you have before you says no

         15  business -- nobody doing business in Sudan can do

         16  business in New York, period, end of story, cut them

         17  off. The hope therefore is they will choose New York

         18  over Sudan.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: So do you

         20  think that --

         21                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Well, let me

         22  finish my point.

         23                 There are large numbers of

         24  institutional investors who work together, church

         25  groups, union pension funds, treasurers, pension
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          2  fund managers around the United States, whose

          3  cumulative interest in Talisman probably is

          4  substantially higher. I don't know the number.

          5                 To pass the Council resolution, you

          6  know, great, that doesn't accomplish bringing

          7  together all of these other institutional investors.

          8                 We haven't computed who Talisman's

          9  other customers are. We haven't computed what other

         10  relationships they have. Remember, they are not an

         11  American company, they are a Canadian company.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Right, I

         13  understand.

         14                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: So what are the

         15  points of sensitivity? There are plenty of them, we

         16  haven't explored that.

         17                 And I recommend that since we are not

         18  interested in single symbolic gestures but in

         19  concrete actions, we ought to explore all the

         20  alternatives, and part of my other suggestion was,

         21  we do that in league with the State Department,

         22  which unlike the Holocaust case, and even MacBride,

         23  were hostile to what we were doing with the allies

         24  in this effort because they have already begun the

         25  process of imposing sanctions themselves.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: I think that

          3  we could comfortably say that we agree with you and

          4  that we are not interested in singular symbolic

          5  gestures as well. I mean, you know, so that

          6  statement suggests that others may be, but I just

          7  want to make it clear that we agree with you on

          8  that.

          9                 So, where, in your estimation then

         10  where are we in this process? How long have we been

         11  -- as far as I understand, I think we have been

         12  sort of tossing this around for about two years and

         13  this tragedy has happened, it probably has a longer

         14  life, but as the City and as the Comptroller, how

         15  long have we been in discussions with the Sudanese

         16  Government and with people who have a stake in

         17  either Talisman or other --

         18                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: You are citing an

         19  involvement of two years, maybe the Council has had

         20  some involvement in two years. My office began

         21  discussions on this topic with advocates on behalf

         22  of the Southern Sudanese last week. So that is why

         23  we don't have a concrete program. It happened last

         24  week. It was brought to our attention. Actually it

         25  started with Reverend Geist -- when were you in the
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          2  office? He is not here. He keeps moving around, he

          3  is very mobile.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Mr.

          5  Comptroller --

          6                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Two weeks ago we

          7  met for the first time. Friday we had follow-up

          8  conversations, so we are new to this.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Okay. I just

         10  want to make sure that we are clear and understand

         11  when you suggest that we use the stick at the end of

         12  the process, that we know in your estimation where

         13  we are in the process. I think some people would

         14  agree that we are way further along in the process.

         15                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Well, I would

         16  like to know what has happened then, because that

         17  would be very interesting. What is it that you have

         18  done to move the process along? Has the Council

         19  connected with the Sudanese Government? Has it

         20  enacted with Talisman? Has it spoken to Coca Cola

         21  and Pepsi Cola? That would be interesting to know.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Well, I don't

         23  think it has to do --

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: That may be very

         25  valuable, maybe they are further along.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Mr.

          3  Comptroller, with all due respect, I don't think it

          4  has to do singularly with the City Council's

          5  activity. I think what we are talking about is a

          6  larger process that has taken place that we are all

          7  playing audience to.

          8                 Certainly there is a longer history

          9  of the abuses and the dehumanization and the

         10  murdering of 2 million people, that has obviously,

         11  you know, it has been around for awhile. So, I mean

         12  with all due respect, I am not certain how extensive

         13  our involvement has been, but I think as a society

         14  and as government and, you know, these are things

         15  that we need to look into. But when you make a

         16  suggestion, a concrete suggestion that we use the

         17  stick at the end of the process, then I want to know

         18  in your mind where we are in that process.

         19                 Now, I understand that it has been

         20  about two weeks that you have been in discussions.

         21                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: And I think

         23  that these hearings will beg the question of what

         24  else has taken place, and maybe we are not at the

         25  beginning of the process, maybe we are way further
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          2  along. Just a suggestion.

          3                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: You will do me

          4  the honor at the end of the hearing, if there is any

          5  testimony either from members of the Council or from

          6  witnesses as to what steps have been taken to try to

          7  influence the results, that you will let us know?

          8  That would be very important.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Yes. I think

         10  we could be strong partners in this, absolutely.

         11                 Thank you, Mr. Comptroller. Thank

         12  you, Madam Chair.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Mr. Comptroller,

         14  of course I understand, as I said before, the

         15  importance of the work you do, and I attributed a

         16  lot of your concern to the fact of the

         17  responsibility for pensions. However, when you

         18  purchase stock, you can sell, the market is your

         19  decision or the group in terms of how the sales are

         20  made, you are not tied to just any one particular

         21  way of doing it. In other words, you can choose

         22  where you sell, where you invest, how you invest; is

         23  that not correct?

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: With a

         25  substantial number of statutory restraints --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Of course.

          3                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Involving

          4  diversity and a balanced market basket. But also the

          5  standard for buying and selling is fiduciary

          6  standard, what is the largest return for the least

          7  risk, it is not our money.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: So thereby you

          9  have the ability to use, especially in today's

         10  market, to use -- you have other options. In other

         11  words, we are not tied to any investment in the

         12  Sudan that means that if we replaced it and moved it

         13  elsewhere, that would not be a dire consequence?

         14                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: That's true.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay.

         16                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: We have

         17  structured the pension funds in such a way that

         18  nothing we do, that doesn't work, or that costs

         19  money, will affect the gross benefit of the pension

         20  funds, they are too large.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Then you could,

         22  though, make that kind of a decision without doing

         23  damage to the fiscal stability of the pension fund

         24  and to the City of New York?

         25                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: No, we could not
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          2  make an investment decision --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Meeting all of

          4  the requirements --

          5                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: We couldn't

          6  divest, for example, unless we believed there was,

          7  under existing law, without waivers in statute, from

          8  any investment, in which we did not have credible

          9  evidence that the divestment was based on financial

         10  considerations. We would need a waiver in order to

         11  do that.

         12                 So, whether it is tobacco stocks or

         13  it is Talisman or anybody else, we would need a

         14  waiver from the State Legislature, if the motivation

         15  behind the divestment was other than financial. We

         16  were on the verge of obtaining such waivers from the

         17  State Legislature in the Swiss case as part of our

         18  package of responses.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: So, in the case

         20  of the Swiss, you were able to do that, the Swiss

         21  case?

         22                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay.

         24                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: We hadn't done

         25  it, but it was committed that we would have gotten
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          2  the waivers.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay. So, it is

          4  possible to be done --

          5                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Oh, sure. Yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: All right, fine.

          7  I just wanted to be sure that it could be done when

          8  it is necessary to be done.

          9                 All right, thank you so very much.

         10                 COMPTROLLER HEVESI: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: It was

         12  illuminating testimony, thank you.

         13                 Eric Reeves. Eric Reeves. Would you

         14  please identify yourself by name, title and

         15  organization.

         16                 MR. REEVES: Good afternoon, members

         17  of the Council. I am very grateful for the

         18  opportunity to be extended to me to explain why I

         19  believe that the City Council --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Please identify

         21  yourself by name.

         22                 MR. REEVES: My name is Eric Reeves,

         23  and I am Professor of English at Smith College in

         24  Massachusetts, and I come to this issue, the larger

         25  issue of divestment from Talisman Energy by way of
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          2  my ongoing support for the humanitarian

          3  organizations working in the war torn south of

          4  Sudan.

          5                 I hold no political office, have no

          6  political aspirations, I am bound by no board of

          7  directors or organizational mandates, I have no

          8  ideological axe to grind and I have accepted money

          9  from no one. I am simply a witness to human

         10  suffering.

         11                 But I must tell you that this

         12  suffering proceeds from the greatest humanitarian

         13  crisis of our time, though terribly and

         14  disgracefully underreported by the American news

         15  media. And I must tell you that this suffering is

         16  sustained by a civil war that is now directly fueled

         17  by oil revenues that Talisman Energy generates for

         18  the cruel and murderous regime in Khartoum, the

         19  northern city of Sudan, the capital city of Sudan.

         20                 Does the Khartoum Regime deserve such

         21  harsh language? The United States House of

         22  Representatives certainly thought so when on June

         23  15th of this year it voted 416 to 1 to declare the

         24  Khartoum's conduct of the civil war to be genocidal.

         25                 They instance many of the most
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          2  terrible acts and practices of this Regime, the

          3  denial of humanitarian relief to afflicted, indeed

          4  starving populations, the destruction of villages

          5  and food stocks, the encouragement of a merciless

          6  trade in human slavery, the bombing of clearly

          7  civilian targets, including refugee camps, emergency

          8  feeding stations and hospitals clearly marked

          9  civilian hospitals.

         10                 It would take my entire allotment of

         11  time simply to catalogue the worst of Khartoum's

         12  offenses, but what I believe you must ponder today

         13  is the fact that the City of New York owns in its

         14  pension plan 186,000 shares of Talisman Energy,

         15  Inc., traded on the New York and Toronto stock

         16  exchanges.

         17                 Talisman is a corporation which has

         18  put profit before human life. Talisman is a

         19  corporation which sees nothing wrong with being an

         20  economic partner and a key ally of this genocidal

         21  Khartoum Regime.

         22                 Talisman has mercilessly looked away

         23  from the human suffering of the South and declares

         24  shamelessly that it represents economic development

         25  for all of Sudan.
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          2                 What it represents is an instrument

          3  of war financing. Hasson al Turabi, the most

          4  influential member of the Khartoum Regime, declared

          5  as much on April 30th of this year, when he was

          6  quoted as declaring that oil revenues would be used

          7  to finance factories for tanks and missiles to

          8  complete a final military victory over the people of

          9  the south. Indeed the very day the first shipment of

         10  oil left Port Sudan, August 31st, it was reported by

         11  many new sources that 20 Russian T-55 tanks had been

         12  diverted from Poland, supposedly bound for Yemen to

         13  Sudan. These tanks will be used against civilian

         14  villages in the south. They will be instrumental in

         15  continuing a policy of, here I quote, slow motion

         16  ethnic cleansing. This last phrase comes from John

         17  Prenderghast, formerly Director of African Affairs

         18  at the National Security Council and presently

         19  Special Advisor to the State Department and widely

         20  regarded as the single most authoritative and

         21  experienced analyst of the conditions in Southern

         22  Sudan. And those tanks, they have been purchased

         23  with oil money.

         24                 The only hope for Sudan is a just

         25  peace. But peace will not come until Khartoum sees
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          2  that it cannot win the civil war militarily. Western

          3  nations and the City of New York must send a clear

          4  signal that there will be no further economic aid or

          5  commerce or support of Sudan or any corporations

          6  operating in Sudan until the war has ended. And if

          7  Talisman continues to refuse to be part of the peace

          8  process, if it continues to fuel the war, then it is

          9  your moral obligation to divest yourselves of

         10  Talisman shares by whatever means are required.

         11                 Ellie Viselle (phonetic) has declared

         12  of this century that it has been marked by too much

         13  violence, too much indifference. I urge you not to

         14  be indifferent to the terrible violence and

         15  suffering in Sudan.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you for

         17  your testimony. I just want to know, do you have any

         18  record at all that, for instance, with the pension

         19  funds, that the Office of the Comptroller ever

         20  contacted anyone in reference to this particular

         21  fund, and what they were doing in the Sudan?

         22                 MR. REEVES: Well, it is my

         23  understanding that Comptroller Hevesi sent a very

         24  strong letter to Talisman demanding that they

         25  clarify their actions and corporate behavior in
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          2  Sudan. As backdrop, you should know that Canadian

          3  NGOs, non-governmental organizations, and church

          4  groups, have been working for many, many, many

          5  months trying to change Talisman's attitude.

          6  Talisman has proved utterly, utterly intransigent.

          7                 Talisman was told by Canadian church

          8  groups and NGOs that it would be a deep mistake to

          9  become involved in Sudan as they did through the

         10  purchase of a prior oil company operating in Sudan

         11  Arakis. They were also told by the Canadian

         12  government not to go into Sudan, and yet they chose

         13  to. And now they have dug their heels in so far that

         14  it will take only a concerted and successful

         15  campaign of divestment to pry them out of their

         16  posture of sending genocidal oil from the south to

         17  Port Sudan as a means of financing the most

         18  destructive civil conflict in the world today, the

         19  greatest humanitarian crisis in the world today.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: So you believe

         21  that, or is your opinion that to do less than to say

         22  that some form of sanction would not -- would be the

         23  only way in which you could have any kind of impact

         24  on them?

         25                 MR. REEVES: I have read extensively
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          2  about the May shareholder meeting in which various

          3  Canadian shareholders, again, church groups

          4  primarily, NGOs, tried to persuade Talisman to

          5  change its behavior. They met with nothing, nothing

          6  that suggested a significant change in the corporate

          7  behavior.

          8                 Talisman refuses to respond in any

          9  sort of sustained way to the abundant reports that

         10  come from the US State Department, from the United

         11  Nations special reporters on Sudan, from the most

         12  respected human rights groups, from the most

         13  respected humanitarian organizations working on the

         14  ground in Sudan, from the abundant testimony that

         15  you have already received today, Talisman does not

         16  respond to that or responds to snippets or responds

         17  disingenuously. They have characterized the

         18  testimony you have heard today as lurid exaggeration

         19  I don't quite understand how any corporation that is

         20  in the process of trying to behave responsibly can

         21  possibly call what you have heard today lurid

         22  exaggeration, but those were their very words

         23  reported in the Toronto Globe-n-Mail, the most

         24  distinguished newspaper in Canada.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: All right. Thank
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          2  you.

          3                 Council Member Carrion.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you for

          5  your testimony, sir.

          6                 Toward the end of trying to create a

          7  sense of how much time has elapsed and where are we

          8  in that process of engagement with the Government of

          9  Sudan, I am going back to the Comptroller's

         10  suggestion, I know that the Khartoum Regime came

         11  into power in '89.

         12                 MR. REEVES: June of 1989.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: It was a coo

         14  --

         15                 MR. REEVES: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Obviously it

         17  is not a pluralistic democratic deliberative

         18  process?

         19                 MR. REEVES: That's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Could you

         21  define in your terms -- you have been watching this

         22  for awhile now?

         23                 MR. REEVES: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: How long have

         25  you been observing this process?
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          2                 MR. REEVES: Well, again, my support,

          3  or my advocacy work on Sudan grows out of my work

          4  with the humanitarian organizations active in the

          5  South of Sudan, so that is several years. I would

          6  say my current efforts, insofar as they entail

          7  publications and a number of newspapers trying to

          8  call attention to the castastrophe in Southern Sudan

          9  goes back a number of months. But I have established

         10  in that time a great many connections with the very,

         11  very active NGO world in Canada, so I have been able

         12  to follow very closely just exactly what Talisman

         13  has done and has not done, and I have also been able

         14  to learn a lot about the last two years, since it

         15  acquired Arakis, and there is no indication that in

         16  this two-year period, if we are using that as our

         17  time frame, that Talisman has moderated its

         18  behavior, has done anything to acknowledge that oil

         19  revenues will inevitably, since they go to one party

         20  in a civil war, fuel that civil war. There has been

         21  nothing in that time to suggest that Talisman fully

         22  comprehends the destruction. Or, in fact, I believe

         23  they do comprehend, they simply, as I say, put

         24  profit before people.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Where do you
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          2  think we are? The same question that I asked the

          3  Comptroller, where do you think we are in terms of

          4  this process of engaging this government and begging

          5  the question and this company, obviously the idea is

          6  to get to the government by this massive investor

          7  and this massive interest in the Sudan, where are we

          8  in that process? Do you think we are at the

          9  beginning or at the end?

         10                 MR. REEVES: I think we are at the

         11  point where there can be no morally conscionable

         12  response to the investor obligations that

         13  institutions face, other than to divest. It seems to

         14  me that Talisman clearly will not change its

         15  behavior. And you must understand that every day the

         16  oil flows, revenues flow to the Khartoum Regime.

         17                 I will give you one example. The

         18  pipeline flows by the El-Obeid Refinery, one of

         19  three refineries active in Sudan. The Antonov

         20  bombers, that so regularly bomb civilian hospitals

         21  in the south, get their aviation fuel from the

         22  El-Obeid Refinery. So, in other words, a pipeline

         23  constructed by the Greater Nile Oil Project, which

         24  has as its partners, not only Canada and Talisman,

         25  but also China is a 40 percent partner, Malaysia a
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          2  30 percent partner and the state-owned Sudanese oil

          3  corporation Sudaped (phonetic), but Canada is a 25

          4  percent partner in an oil consortium that now daily

          5  sends oil to the El-Obeid Refinery. It is from there

          6  that the aviation fuel that fuels those Antonov

          7  bombers that were earlier referred to, that is where

          8  they get the fuel that allows them to bomb clearly

          9  marked civilian hospitals, feeding stations, refugee

         10  stations, civilian targets throughout the south.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you.

         12                 MR. REEVES: I can't imagine a more

         13  direct form of complicity ongoing immediate, even as

         14  we speak. The 2 million people who have died in

         15  Sudan translate in a ghastly statistical average

         16  into 350 dead per day. Every day, day in, day out on

         17  the statistical average.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER CARRION: Thank you,

         19  Mr. Reeves.

         20                 Thank you, Madam Chair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you very

         22  much for your testimony.

         23                 Did you give us a written copy? Do we

         24  have a written copy of your testimony?

         25                 MR. REEVES: I have one here.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            72

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Can you answer

          3  one other question for me? The letter from the

          4  Comptroller's Office regarding the question of the

          5  investments, do you know when that letter went out?

          6                 MR. REEVES: Last week, I believe.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Last week. Thank

          8  you.

          9                 MR. REEVES: By the way, there are 112

         10  million shares of Talisman outstanding, Talisman is

         11  presently trading a $30 a share, so 186,000 shares

         12  translates into $30 times 186,000.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you.

         14                 At this time we are going to have two

         15  people at once, and that is Pastor Jim Geist and Dr.

         16  Charles Jacobs. Will you approach the witness chair

         17  at this time.

         18                 DR. JACOBS: My name is Charles Jacobs

         19  and I am the President of the American Anti-Slavery

         20  Group, based in Boston. I spoke to Secretary of

         21  State Madeline Allbright two weeks ago and I sure

         22  wish, Ms. Pinkett, that you were in the room with me

         23  at the time, because what you said about the past

         24  historical analogy to this situation is all too

         25  true.
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          2                 I want to first thank Pastor Jim

          3  Geist, who sits at my left, he is the New York

          4  representative of the American Anti-Slavery Group,

          5  for convincing people here to have this hearing. His

          6  hunger strike will go down as an abolitionist

          7  history as an important effort by a very principled

          8  person.

          9                 I want to thank Speaker Vallone for

         10  his leadership on this bill, and we come to New York

         11  as a divided city, I am talking about the museum

         12  business. But I want to tell you, as it relates to

         13  slavery and genocide in Sudan, there is no one who

         14  is not on board. We have supporters in our

         15  organization that range from Barney Frank to Pat

         16  Robertson, because the issue that we are talking

         17  about is not right or left, it is right or wrong.

         18                 We came to New York to ask that New

         19  York City act like New York City. This is the

         20  citadel of freedom, a haven for people oppressed in

         21  foreign land, millions of New Yorkers have been sons

         22  and daughters of men and women who fought for

         23  freedom and fled oppression. How horrible it is then

         24  to discover that tens of thousands of New Yorkers

         25  have without their knowledge been made to be
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          2  partners in slavery and slaughter. But this is what

          3  has happened.

          4                 New York City pension funds, as we

          5  have been hearing, are invested in a company that is

          6  helping Sudan, one of the most vicious governments

          7  in today's world, torture, enslaved, starved, murder

          8  and destroying people which it despises.

          9                 The hard-earned retirement monies,

         10  the dreams of New York City workers, are not meant

         11  to support such things.

         12                 Any trade, any trade with the

         13  government of Sudan at this moment is commerce

         14  without conscience and must stop.

         15                 The black African people of South

         16  Sudan are despised and murdered. Why? Because they

         17  will not be dominated by this ruthless regime, which

         18  both houses of the United States Congress have

         19  charged with genocide and with employing slavery.

         20  And I just want to say a bit about the slave trade.

         21                 As part of its holy war, Arab

         22  militias armed by the Government Khartoum raid

         23  African villages, they shoot the men. The men don't

         24  make very good slaves. And they take the women and

         25  children. These are kept by individual militia men,
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          2  or are brought north where they are bought and sold,

          3  branded and bred, forcibly converted to Islam. The

          4  women who are chosen as concubines are genitally

          5  mutilated to suit the sexual tastes of their

          6  masters. It is 1999.

          7                 There is a racist aspect to this

          8  attack on black Africans. I want to quote from,

          9  because I debated Jim Buckee, who is the President

         10  of Talisman, on Canadian radio two months ago, and

         11  Mr. Buckee just repeated the line of Sudan, of

         12  Khartoum, that this really is not slavery, he said.

         13  He said this is a matter of Arabs and Africans

         14  having historical fights, and when they have these

         15  fights they take captors from each side, so when

         16  they have temporary peace treaties they exchange

         17  them and that is what you are really seeing when you

         18  see those pictures of redeemed slaves.

         19                 Well, that's a lie. Because the

         20  Government of Khartoum says that continually but

         21  there haven't been one case presented to us of an

         22  African man having an Arab slave in Sudan. It is

         23  just not true.

         24                 There is a racist aspect here. Quote,

         25  UN Special Rapporteur Gaspar Biro, wrote in 1996, "I
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          2  believe that the racial dimension of violations and

          3  abuses against children living in Northern Sudan, or

          4  in the case of children in Southern Sudan, those who

          5  are abducted and sold into slavery constitutes a

          6  particularly grave and alarming circumstance which

          7  should be of particular concern from a human rights

          8  perspective."

          9                 Unfortunately this has been an

         10  unspoken genocide. There are more people killed,

         11  have been, in Sudan 2 million, than in all of

         12  Ruanda, Bosnia, Somalia, et cetera, but yet the

         13  President of the United States has not mentioned the

         14  word genocide.

         15                 Everyone in the human rights

         16  community who is supposed to know about slavery and

         17  genocide knows this, Amnesty International knows,

         18  Human Rights Watch, Africa knows, the United Nations

         19  itself, as I said, knows, our web site contains all

         20  of their documents and all of the photographs. I

         21  just wanted to read to you what happens when you

         22  become a slave in Sudan.

         23                 Abuk Thuc Akwar, is a 13-year-old

         24  girl, who with 24 other children, was captured by

         25  the militia, marched north and given to a farmer.
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          2  Throughout the day she worked in his sorghum fields

          3  and at night in his bed. During the march she was

          4  raped and called a black donkey.

          5                 A boy named Kon, who is 13 -- I am

          6  reading from the New York Times, the piece that we

          7  wrote to break this story -- a boy named Kon, 13

          8  years old, was abducted by Arab nomads and taken to

          9  a merchant's house. There he found several Dinka men

         10  hobbling, their Achilles' tendons cut because they

         11  refused to become Muslims. Threatened with the same

         12  treatment the boy converted and he escaped.

         13                 So here we are in New York City,

         14  October 4th, 1999, three months from the millennium,

         15  reading about black slaves.

         16                 Talisman Oil of Canada is helping

         17  Sudan become oil rich. They are now pumping 100,000

         18  barrels a day soon to be 200,000. Talisman head

         19  James Buckee denies publicly in the face of all of

         20  the massive evidence from the United Nations, from

         21  Amnesty International, from dozens of journalists,

         22  evidence that he must know to be true, that there is

         23  slavery in Sudan. There can be no temporizing with

         24  Mr. Buckee, there can be no wait and see, the stick

         25  comes later. I say the stick must come now.
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          2                 He tells us that the oil revenues his

          3  company produces will be used to construct

          4  hospitals, but Congressman Donald Payne of New

          5  Jersey, who is a leading black elected official on

          6  this issue, just returned from Sudan where he saw,

          7  he witnessed a bombed-out hospital which was bombed

          8  so many times that they had to remove the Red Cross

          9  from the top roof because it became an easy

         10  targeting signal for people who would bomb

         11  hospitals.

         12                 So, Mr. Buckee's oil wealth is not

         13  going to produce hospitals in Sudan, it is going to

         14  destroy them.

         15                 The Government of Sudan has told Mr.

         16  Buckee and everyone else what it will do with the

         17  money. In a press release they said we will use this

         18  money for weapons, tanks and missiles.

         19                 The oil that Talisman is developing

         20  belongs to the south. It was found 20 years ago by

         21  Chevron, it belongs to the people the Khartoum wants

         22  to destroy. It will steal their oil and kill them

         23  with it.

         24                 Councilors, you can act today, and I

         25  am looking for a gesture, I don't think at this
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          2  point there are empty gestures. I think you can do

          3  something significant, and I call upon you to do

          4  something significant, and that is to stand up and

          5  say publicly out loud that you deplore the use of

          6  the retirement fund of the free and proud and

          7  liberty loving people of the City of New York for

          8  any support of slavery and slaughter.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: It is horrible.

         11  Awful. I think there are no questions I can ask you,

         12  except to say that you make a case that cannot be

         13  denied, and violations of course exist.

         14                 You believe, though, that the

         15  proposed legislation is too far? Or would you adhere

         16  to the recommendations of our Comptroller?

         17                 DR. JACOBS: I think that without

         18  being drawn into a disagreement that you have, I

         19  would say in principle everything that might be said

         20  now, to announce that the people of New York City

         21  will not do business with murderers should be said.

         22  Even if it is true that this has already been said

         23  by the federal government, even if it is true that

         24  we cannot get people to stop drinking Coca Cola and

         25  Pepsi, although, you know, maybe if their Pepsi
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          2  tastes a little funny it is because it has some

          3  people's blood in it, I think you must stand up now

          4  and say, even if it is a gesture because it is a

          5  holy gestured, and say the people of New York City

          6  will not support the enslavement of blacks today.

          7                 And so I am not for temporizing, I am

          8  for you, today, to say that. It makes a big

          9  difference. You know people say you only have $5

         10  million worth of Talisman shares, you will send a

         11  shot heard around the world, because once it gets to

         12  be the case that the citizens of New York City, and

         13  by the way the New Jersey State Pension Fund has

         14  this, and do you know that the school teachers of

         15  this country, TIA Kref is the largest college

         16  pension fund, is full of Talisman, and that means

         17  that American school teachers go to school and teach

         18  the evils of slavery and genocide and unknowingly

         19  benefit from it. We are working on that too, but you

         20  can be the lead-off shot in this war and that is

         21  what I ask.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Do you have

         23  testimony to offer also?

         24                 PASTOR GEIST: Yes. My name is Pastor

         25  Jim Geist. I am a Social Justice Minister of New
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          2  Life Fellowship in Elmhurst, Queens; I am the New

          3  York City Director of the American Anti-Slavery

          4  Group; and I am also the founder of the Interfaith

          5  Alliance for Christian Human Rights.

          6                 Good afternoon, Madam Chairwoman. I

          7  would like to thank you for the opportunity you have

          8  given us to share what is going on in Sudan.

          9                 Before I go into my testimony, I

         10  would like to make it clear that I am transitioning

         11  from full-time ministry into teaching. I would like

         12  to teach history and social studies, so if anyone

         13  knows of a school that is looking for a social

         14  studies teacher, call Speaker Vallone.

         15                 More people have been killed in Sudan

         16  than Bosnia, Kosovo, Rwanda and East Timor combined.

         17  Two-million people, 30,000 people enslaved. Two and

         18  a half million people right now, right now on the

         19  verge of starving to death. In the Khartoum Regime,

         20  if we decided to send food over there, will veto

         21  food relief to the people of Southern Sudan.

         22                 I would like to thank Speaker

         23  Vallone, who seems to have spontaneously combusted,

         24  but Gary Altman, please send my word to Speaker

         25  Vallone for his leadership on this issue.
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          2                 Just as New York City set the example

          3  on Apartheid South Africa, New York City can set the

          4  example against genocide enslavery in Sudan.

          5                 We can set the example to President

          6  Clinton and to the rest of the world. As Edmund

          7  Burke said, all it takes for evil to triumph is for

          8  good people to do nothing.

          9                 I would like to thank the following

         10  people who have educated me on what is going on with

         11  this persecution issue. Mr. Abe Rosenthal from the

         12  New York Times, Michael Horowitz, Nina Shea,

         13  Reverend Steve Haas, Dr. Charles Jacobs, Betty

         14  Cooney of the Queens Chronicle, Steve Malsberg from

         15  ABC radio, Andy Anderson from WMC radio, Mr. Alan

         16  Hevesi, in addition to Peter Vallone, and special

         17  thanks to my wife, Theresa Haggarty-Geist, who has

         18  sacrificed time with her husband so that this issue

         19  would get the appropriate coverage it deserves.

         20                 Like the movie Shindler's List, I

         21  have been haunted by starving people, by people

         22  being killed, by women being raped, by people being

         23  enslaved. Ignorance is bliss, and I wish at times

         24  that I had never heard about the slavery issue. But

         25  the Catholic and Episcopal bishops' words, why is
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          2  the American church silent on the issue of the worst

          3  human rights atrocities in the world today? Why are

          4  you more interested in Monica Lewinsky than you are

          5  about the enslavement of people?

          6                 I have heard their cries. And in

          7  November of '98 I told God I would do whatever I

          8  could in New York City to enlighten people about the

          9  issue of slavery.

         10                 I hope that the New York City Council

         11  will embarrass President Clinton to do the right

         12  thing. In 1993, in front of the Washington Holocaust

         13  Museum the President said, "Never again. Never

         14  again. Where there is genocide we must intervene."

         15                 In 1994 was the Rwandan Holocaust, we

         16  did not do, the United States did not intervene. In

         17  1998, in Rwanda, when the President took a trip, a

         18  summer trip to Rwanda, in the Rwandan hangar,

         19  airport hangar he said, "I apologize to the Rwandan

         20  people. We didn't know what was going on." The

         21  President said he didn't know what was going on in

         22  Rwanda. Do you believe him? I don't believe him.

         23                 How could you have not known that

         24  half a million people were killed? The reason why he

         25  didn't want to call it genocide is so we didn't have
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          2  to do anything.

          3                 In 1998, on November 10th, the 50th

          4  anniversary of the declaration of human rights, this

          5  is what the President said, he announced the

          6  creation of an early warning center, to focus

          7  American intelligence resources on uncovering

          8  potential genocide, and a large increase in funding

          9  for programs to stop child labor.

         10                 I think that is a very noble thing,

         11  if he carries it through.

         12                 In 1999, March 24th, on the eve

         13  before we began bombing Kosovo, this is what the

         14  President said: "We have learned if you do not stand

         15  up to the brutality and killing of innocent people,

         16  then you invite the people who do the killing to do

         17  more of it."

         18                 In 1994, April 14th, the Washington

         19  Post. Euie Rosell asked the President, "Why are we

         20  so nobly involved in Kosovo? And why were we not in

         21  Rwanda? I think we could have prevented that

         22  massacre." President Clinton's response: "I will do

         23  my best to make sure nothing like this happens again

         24  in Africa."

         25                 Ladies and gentlemen, it is happening
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          2  again. Two million people killed. I have come to

          3  this conclusion, that this is the official policy of

          4  the United States and the United Nations, when 3,000

          5  white people get killed in Kosovo, you send in

          6  troops immediately. When brown people get killed in

          7  East Timor, 200,000, you wait a month or two before

          8  you send in the troops. But when black people get

          9  killed in Africa, who cares? Look at the record and

         10  see if I am right.

         11                 I have come to the conclusion that

         12  there is something worse than being called a nigger,

         13  and that is being born in Southern Sudan.

         14                 I challenge African American leaders

         15  and Muslim leaders to speak out on this issue. I

         16  contacted nine different Muslim groups to come here

         17  to speak out on the issue of genocide in Sudan. I

         18  didn't hear from one.

         19                 I contacted the Reverend Al Sharpton,

         20  two letters, ten phone calls - never got a return

         21  call. To me it is the utter hypocrisy and the utmost

         22  betrayal when African American leadership does not

         23  speak out for black Africans.

         24                 If Malcolm X were alive today, he

         25  would be here at this hearing.
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          2                 Malcolm X said that Islam is a

          3  religion that stands for human rights, not matter

          4  what your race, your creed or your religion is.

          5  Where is Reverend Jackson on this issue, Jessie

          6  Jackson? Where is Reverend Sharpton on this issue? I

          7  challenge them to speak out for truth.

          8                 Dr. Martin Luther King in his famous

          9  1963 letter from the Birmingham Jail said, injustice

         10  anywhere is a threat to justice everywhere. We are

         11  caught in an inescapable network of mutuality, tied

         12  in a single garment of destiny. Whatever affects one

         13  directly affects all indirectly.

         14                 On September 26th, the premiere of

         15  Touched by an Angel focused on the issue of Slavery

         16  in Sudan. In the story, the Angel said to a US

         17  Senator, you are the one. You are the one to speak

         18  out on this issue.

         19                 Speaker Peter Vallone, God has told

         20  me to tell you that you are the one to lead New York

         21  City and the United States to speak out on the

         22  atrocities of what is happening in the Sudan.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Well, I would

         25  like to thank you for your statement. I hear your
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          2  challenge, I think that those of us who hear you

          3  understand your commitment and your concern.

          4                 I would say to you as a black, I am

          5  concerned about slavery, whether it is black or

          6  white. Any human being who is enslaved, it would

          7  concern me and I would think it was wrong.

          8                 I do think also in this country there

          9  ought to be a great concern about slavery, simply

         10  because the legacy is so great. It hasn't been too

         11  long and in this very country, slavery was indeed

         12  the order of the day. We are still suffering the

         13  aftermath of slavery. We haven't outgrown it yet. We

         14  still have remnants and many of them it will take us

         15  time to eliminate from our own life.

         16                 I do believe that you are correct in

         17  saying that we each must play a role in eliminating

         18  man's hatred and judging of another human being, and

         19  that we all have a responsibility in this matter of

         20  slavery.

         21                 PASTOR GEIST: Madam Chairperson, I

         22  would like to add something. That in America it has

         23  been said by Billy Graham that on Sunday's at 11:00

         24  is the most segregated hour in America. And I think

         25  that this is an issue where churches can work
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          2  together, black churches, Anglo churches,

          3  multi-cultural churches, on a common issue that can

          4  help I think bring healing and reconciliation on the

          5  pain that has been caused in this country by the

          6  issue of slavery.

          7                 Now, the gentleman on the left, I

          8  don't know his name, but he brought up the issue and

          9  said and well this has been going on for what, 15,

         10  17 years? Why all of a sudden is this an issue?

         11                 Well, in America we had slavery for

         12  over 100 years before we had the civil war, which

         13  helped bring an end to it, so I think that that

         14  point is moot.

         15                 In response to the gentleman on the

         16  left who said that, well the Council has been

         17  working on this issue for two years. Well, I have to

         18  be quite blunt - no, they haven't.

         19                 The Speaker, three years ago in this

         20  room, promised to introduce sanctions against 15

         21  countries committing persecution against Christians,

         22  he withdrew the bill. We met with him, he said I

         23  promised to hold hearings on one country and we

         24  chose Sudan.

         25                 So, last year, in front of a
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          2  religious coalition, the Speaker said I give my word

          3  that I am going to hold hearings. The year came and

          4  went, didn't happen.

          5                 Last year the same thing, oh I give

          6  my word, we are going to hold hearings. The year

          7  came and went.

          8                 It wasn't until I went on a 12-day

          9  hunger strike that the Council held a hearing on

         10  this issue.

         11                 Now, just my last thing. If the

         12  Council is going to pass this bill, if they are

         13  going to pass this bill just to say we did something

         14  about Sudan, get rid of it, and then move on, then

         15  this hearing has been a failure. And I truly hope

         16  that the New York City Council, the New York City

         17  Council Speaker Peter Vallone and Alan Hevesi are

         18  willing to work together on a compromise on this

         19  issue.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Well, now, let

         21  me just answer you from my Christian faith, while we

         22  are sitting here.

         23                 One of the things I would say to you

         24  is simply this: You made one comment about the

         25  Speaker not being here. One of the reasons we
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          2  changed the hour was because it was impossible for

          3  the Speaker to be present this morning, and he

          4  wanted to be here at some part of the day for this

          5  particular hearing because --

          6                 PASTOR GEIST: I understand that.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay. He made a

          8  commitment.

          9                 PASTOR GEIST: I understand that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay.

         11                 Secondly, he could not be here for

         12  the entire time, but he wanted you to know the

         13  importance of this legislation to him, and so even

         14  though he could not be here for the entire time, he

         15  was here and had to leave.

         16                 The second part of this is that there

         17  were a number of principles embodied in the original

         18  legislation and with negotiations there were some

         19  principles that were agreed upon, hence the revision

         20  of this bill would mean that you did not have those

         21  things that were agreed upon continue in that

         22  legislation.

         23                 So, sometimes when it seems as if

         24  those things are eliminated, it is not because we

         25  are not concerned, but because of the fact things
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          2  have been accomplished, it is believed that it is

          3  not necessary to include that in a subsequent

          4  document.

          5                 The third thing I would say is that,

          6  when you see us doing something that you don't quite

          7  agree with, you can ask us, talk to us, and above

          8  all, pray for us and with us, that is part of the

          9  faith.

         10                 PASTOR GEIST: Well, as a --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Wait. Wait.

         12  Wait.

         13                 PASTOR GEIST: I pray every day for

         14  the Council.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: You had your

         16  turn, it is my turn now.

         17                 PASTOR GEIST: And I called 60 times

         18  and the Speaker didn't return my phone calls.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Excuse me. I

         20  cannot respond to that. I can only respond to this

         21  fact, that you cannot give up on us any more than I

         22  can give up on you. You can't do that.

         23                 This is not -- that is not the game

         24  you and I are in. It is that we believe in the

         25  principle that human beings are so important, that
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          2  no matter what, we continue to hope and believe and

          3  to try.

          4                 So, this Council I believe is worthy

          5  of your efforts --

          6                 PASTOR GEIST: Absolutely.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: And for that

          8  reason we are here. And what we want is to achieve

          9  an objective, and that is to make known to those who

         10  would oppress that we will not tolerate oppression.

         11                 The other thing we want to make known

         12  to the people of the Sudan, that we will not

         13  tolerate oppression. The third thing we want to do

         14  is to say to the people of Sudan who have been

         15  oppressed, you are not alone because we are with you

         16  and we will support you.

         17                 So, we can't afford to fight each

         18  other.

         19                 PASTOR GEIST: I am not fighting, I am

         20  just speaking truths.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: If we are

         22  fighting each other, we can't send the right

         23  message, is that not true?

         24                 PASTOR GEIST: I understand that

         25  politics --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Is that not

          3  true?

          4                 PASTOR GEIST: I understand that

          5  politics is the art of compromise and I accept that.

          6  I am just saying that the Council has not done

          7  anything in the issue of Slavery for two years, that

          8  is all I am saying, and that is the truth.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: All I am going

         10  to say to you, it took a long time to create a lot

         11  of things, and what you have said about the church

         12  being, what, that we are not, you know, segregated

         13  on Sunday?

         14                 PASTOR GEIST: No, we are. I said the

         15  most segregated hour.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I agree with

         17  you, but then Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday

         18  and Friday and Saturday we need to work together

         19  too.

         20                 PASTOR GEIST: Amen.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay? So, all I

         22  would suggest to you, let us move on, okay?

         23                 PASTOR GEIST: Very good.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you so

         25  much. Thank you for your testimony.
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          2                 James Chin.

          3                 Would you please identify yourself by

          4  name and title and organization.

          5                 MR. CHIN: Good afternoon. My name is

          6  James Chin. I am Senior Director and Legislative

          7  Counsel for the New York City Partnership.

          8                 Good afternoon, Chairperson Pinkett,

          9  Speaker Vallone, members of the Committee of

         10  Government Operations. On behalf of the New York

         11  City Partnership, I wish to thank you for the

         12  opportunity to testify on Intro. 555, which imposes

         13  sanctions on companies that seek New York City

         14  contracts while conducting business with Sudan.

         15                 Again, I am James Chin, Senior

         16  Director and Legislative Counsel for Government

         17  Affairs.

         18                 First let me say that the Partnership

         19  and its members deploy and are outraged by the human

         20  rights violations and religious persecution in

         21  Sudan. However, we strongly oppose Intro. 555.

         22                 Intro. 555 punishes businesses and

         23  damages the City's reputation. Intro. 555 punishes

         24  the wrong party. It does not achieve its intended

         25  goal of advancing religious freedom and democracy in
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          2  Sudan but creates confusion about how best we need

          3  these goals.

          4                 Local government should not make

          5  foreign policy. Intro. 555 entangles the City in a

          6  policy that is contrary to our federal government's

          7  own trade policy.

          8                 As you may know, in November 1997,

          9  the United States determined that the policies and

         10  action of the Government of Sudan constituted an

         11  unusual and extraordinary threat to our national

         12  security.

         13                 After finding Sudan engaged in the

         14  continued support of international terrorism,

         15  ongoing efforts to destabilize neighboring

         16  governments and prevalence of human rights

         17  violations, including slavery and the denial of

         18  religious freedom, President Clinton issued

         19  Executive Order No. 13067, declaring a national

         20  emergency to deal with that threat.

         21                 The Executive Order imposed a trade

         22  embargo against Sudan and a total asset freeze

         23  against the Government of Sudan. We believe the

         24  federal sanctions make the city sanctions

         25  unnecessary. Effectively, federal sanctions prohibit
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          2  U.S. companies from doing business with Sudan.

          3                 As you can see, I have attached a

          4  memo from the U.S. Department of Treasury that

          5  speaks to that particular point.

          6                 The courts are looking at this very

          7  issue of whether state and local governments should

          8  engage in foreign policy. In fact, in a unanimous

          9  ruling, the United States Court of Appeals for the

         10  First Circuit declared the Massachusetts Burma law

         11  unconstitutional.

         12                 The Court held that the State's Burma

         13  law impermissibly intruded on federal government's

         14  exclusive authority to conduct foreign relations,

         15  violated the foreign commerce clause, and was

         16  preempted by federal sanctions regarding Burma.

         17                 The First Circuit's opinion concluded

         18  that "the conduct of this nation's foreign affairs

         19  cannot be effectively managed on behalf of all of

         20  the nation's citizens if each of the many state and

         21  local governments pursues its own foreign policy."

         22  With Intro. 555, the City is involving itself in a

         23  local foreign policy that is ineffective with

         24  respect to its intended objective, and may be

         25  harmful to our national global interests.
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          2                 We believe local governments should

          3  not use business as an instrument to advance a

          4  foreign policy agenda.

          5                 Democratization does not take place

          6  in a vacuum. American investors have been among the

          7  most effective advocates of liberalization and human

          8  rights around the world. American companies bring

          9  more leverage as significant participants in a

         10  country's economy rather than not being at the

         11  table.

         12                 American companies are good global

         13  citizens. They expose foreign governments and local

         14  employees to democratic institutions and values.

         15  American companies operating in foreign countries

         16  seek assurances on respect for the rule of law while

         17  bringing many democratic values to the workplace.

         18                 We also know that American companies

         19  educate and train local executives, often drawn from

         20  the class most opposed to a repressive government.

         21  Foreign investment also leads to the growth of an

         22  independent middle class with demands for greater

         23  freedoms. American businesses promote investment in

         24  physical and human infrastructure. Global businesses

         25  often directly invest in community projects which
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          2  serve a country's most basic needs, like telephone

          3  systems, roads, health care facilities and food

          4  production.

          5                 In conclusion, Chairperson Pinkett,

          6  and members of the Governmental Operations

          7  Committee, you have done a great deal to change the

          8  perception in New York. The City is more business

          9  friendly. You have committed your efforts to making

         10  important gains toward reducing the regulatory and

         11  tax burdens in New York City. Intro. 555 sends the

         12  wrong message and we contend that sanction policy

         13  should be determined at the federal level.

         14                 Once again, for these reasons, the

         15  New York City Partnership an Chamber of Commerce

         16  opposes Intro. 555.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: We thank you for

         18  your testimony, and we understand the Partnership's

         19  position, and of course their reliance on the

         20  Supreme Court's action and decision.

         21                 I only would like to remind them that

         22  Plesse versus Ferguson was a Supreme Court Decision,

         23  and I didn't think much of that either, but they

         24  redeemed themselves later on, so we accept your

         25  testimony and we understand that this is a very
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          2  difficult time for all of us.

          3                 I think that you represent in the

          4  partnership businesses who are also committed to the

          5  City and to human beings and would like to make a

          6  contribution and do make a contribution in so many

          7  ways to many good causes, and would not actually

          8  want to commit themselves to supporting the kind of

          9  infamous action that we are referring to in the

         10  Sudan. And I am sure the Partnership would not want

         11  to be a party to that type of behavior, but they

         12  speak in terms of the general protection of the

         13  business world and the corporate interest as a

         14  whole.

         15                 And so I would say that we are not

         16  attacking business per se, but as with anything,

         17  that which is unscrupulous and that which would deny

         18  people their rights and their freedom must be

         19  addressed and we hope to do it through speaking

         20  through the interests and concerns of people who

         21  must have a voice and whom government must evidence

         22  a concern for their well-being. We thank you for

         23  your testimony.

         24                 MR. CHIN: Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Laija J. Elioba.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            100

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  She left. We are going to have her testimony

          3  inserted in the record just by her absence.

          4                 Dennis Bennet.

          5                 MS. ALLEY: I will read her testimony

          6  into the record.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: You want to read

          8  her testimony?

          9                 MS. ALLEY: Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: All right, we

         11  usually don't, but in this instance we will permit

         12  you to read her testimony. Would you take a seat and

         13  identify yourself by name, title and organization.

         14                 MS. ALLEY: My name is Jane Alley. I

         15  am a Sudanese myself, I belong to a Sudanese

         16  organization.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: You are going to

         18  have to speak -- first of all, did you make an

         19  appearance ticket?

         20                 MS. ALLEY: No.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, would you

         22  fill out one? After you complete your testimony, I

         23  would like a record with your name on it, okay?

         24                 MS. ALLEY: Okay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Now, would you
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          2  speak slowly so we can understand you?

          3                 MS. ALLEY: All right.

          4                 My name is Jane Alley. I am Sudanese

          5  myself. I am reading this testimony on behalf of

          6  Laija Elioba, who is a regional director for Church

          7  Action to Save the Children USA Program for Sudan.

          8                 I am sorry she couldn't be here at

          9  this point to testify, but I am just going to read

         10  her testimony.

         11                 Like the other members of the panel,

         12  I would like to register my appreciation to the

         13  Council for bringing up this issue of entities that

         14  do business with the Sudan. I believe that this is a

         15  very important issue which affects the lives of

         16  Southern Sudanese in particular and Sudanese at

         17  large.

         18                 As a Southern Sudanese woman, and a

         19  victim of the Government of Sudan's atrocities

         20  against its people, I strongly support the call to

         21  stop the companies to do conduct business with the

         22  Government of Sudan. I think this proposal is

         23  appropriate because I know that the Government of

         24  Sudan will never use the proceeds accruing from this

         25  trade to benefit its citizens. Instead it will use
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          2  the money to further its notorious programs of

          3  genocide, slavery, religious persecution and

          4  sponsoring terrorism.

          5                 As a matter of fact, the Sudan

          6  leadership in Khartoum, especially the guru of the

          7  regime, Hassen El Turabi, has made it abundantly

          8  clear on numerous occasions that any funds generated

          9  from trade will be used to fuel its war machinery,

         10  as well as the violation of the rights of its

         11  citizens.

         12                 Chairperson, many of the members of

         13  this distinguished panel have addressed most of the

         14  issues pertaining to the Sudan situation. I would,

         15  however, like you to allow me to elaborate on some

         16  issues which are pertinent to women.

         17                 I want specifically to address the

         18  issue of violation of women's rights, and this

         19  includes sexual segregation, female genital

         20  mutilation, abduction of children, and Arabization

         21  and Islamization.

         22                 When it comes to sexual segregation,

         23  the government of Sudan has passed Islamic laws

         24  which severely restrict women from participating in

         25  public life.
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          2                 For instance, since 1989 women have

          3  constantly been harassed and purged from the public

          4  service. The government has passed legislation

          5  prohibiting women from sharing seats in the

          6  country's public transport system. And from

          7  participating in any social activities, such as

          8  parties, sports or movie theaters.

          9                 In the schools women cannot sit

         10  together with men in class. Women are not allowed to

         11  go shopping during the day time, except at night,

         12  and only in the company of their husbands or close

         13  male relatives.

         14                 The effect of these laws on the lives

         15  of Sudanese women is very devastating. Women from

         16  the Southern Sudan are denied employment in the

         17  public sector in Khartoum. When they try to engage

         18  in petty trade by selling commodities, such as soap,

         19  tea or locally brewed beer, they are arrested,

         20  summarily tried and flogged or imprisoned for long

         21  periods.

         22                 Even landlords routinely evict

         23  Southern women, Southern Sudanese families from

         24  their homes on flimsy grounds of not living

         25  according to Islamic Sharia laws. And when they try
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          2  to set up their own makeshift huts in the outskirts

          3  of Khartoum, the government sends bulldozers to

          4  demolish their dwellings, and forcibly relocate them

          5  to what amounts to concentration camps in the desert

          6  where there is no water, sanitation system is very

          7  poor and there are no schools, not to mention food

          8  which is a basic need. Food is basically rationed

          9  out only to Moslem converts.

         10                 In terms of indoctrination, women are

         11  the primary target of the Islamic fundamentalists

         12  onslaught. Young girls are bombarded daily with

         13  propaganda that makes them ashamed of their bodies

         14  and tell them that their nature requires obedience

         15  and domesticity.

         16                 Women are stopped on the streets for

         17  being inappropriately covered, not having proper

         18  escort and even in a provocative manner. Dancing

         19  between the sexes is prohibited. Every woman must

         20  wear the "hijab", which is a Moslem dress which

         21  covers the woman's entire body.

         22                 When it comes to the female genital

         23  mutilation, which is vigorously being encouraged by

         24  the current Islamic government in Khartoum. I think

         25  this is a horrendous violation of the woman's
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          2  rights. I think this violation and practice must

          3  stop. The only thing is, if the practice is

          4  acceptable in Moslem society, it does not conform to

          5  our African culture. Yet those women taken into

          6  captivity and bondage and those living in the north

          7  are subjected to this repugnant practice. Besides,

          8  the crude method applied are medically proven to be

          9  a health hazard.

         10                 Abduction of children. The National

         11  Islamic Regime in the Sudan sponsors a state policy

         12  aimed at abducting the children mainly from the

         13  south and the Nuba Mountains. Once captured in

         14  Khartoum, these children are smuggled out and taken

         15  to undisclosed religious centers in the bid to

         16  change their identity.

         17                 According to eyewitness reports

         18  confirmed by African Rights Report in 1995, the

         19  camps are similar to the "political re-education

         20  programs brutally enforced by Stalin in the Soviet

         21  Union and the Khemer Rouge in Cambodia." There are

         22  many secret camps in the country, one of them is

         23  located in Eastern Sudan which contains more than

         24  1,500, maybe a number of 2,000 children and youth

         25  between the ages of seven to 20.
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          2                 Arabization and Islamization. The

          3  Sudan Government has also an ambitious project aimed

          4  at radical transformation of many aspects of

          5  Sudanese political, economic, social and cultural

          6  life.

          7                 Components of this policy are found

          8  in their "comprehensive call" which advocates the

          9  propaganda of Islam, the saturation of all aspects

         10  of life with Islamic values, the spreading of the

         11  Arabic language and cultural values, the repression

         12  of Christianity as well as the Traditional African

         13  religious not only in southern Sudan but in the rest

         14  of black Africa. The point I am making here is the

         15  fact that, the targets of this policy are non-Arabs

         16  from the south and the outskirts of the north. The

         17  government machinery, which is composed exclusively

         18  of Moslem brothers, believes that our people can be

         19  considered as full citizens in the country of their

         20  birth only if they change their identities into

         21  Arabs and Moslems.

         22                 Now, in conclusion, I would like to

         23  thank the members of this Council, chairlady, that I

         24  would like to reiterate the fact that all of the

         25  previous speakers who really have presented this
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          2  issue of Sudan, it carries a lot of weight, and I am

          3  very happy to be part of this presentation here.

          4                 The thing is, we have really suffered

          5  over the years. The women have suffered over the

          6  years from the Islamic regime policies. They have

          7  had more than their share of burying their children

          8  who die a purposeless death. The women have lost

          9  young ones, not only through physical death but

         10  through slavery, ethnic cleansing, arabization and

         11  culturalization. Nothing is left but the deep sense

         12  of despair, hopelessness and an ever bleak future.

         13  We are approaching a new century but we are still

         14  struggling with issues of slavery, war, famine.

         15  These are not issues that we should go into the new

         16  century with.

         17                 I strongly believe that it is the

         18  duty of this Council to come up with ways to stop

         19  the companies that do business with the Sudan

         20  Government which uses such trade money to perpetuate

         21  inhuman acts against its people. Come up with ways

         22  to stop the companies who do trade with Khartoum,

         23  not to continue doing their trade because the money

         24  is not going to be used for nothing but victimizing

         25  its citizens.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you for

          4  your testimony, or at least for giving the testimony

          5  for -- is she a friend of yours?

          6                 MS. ALLEY: Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Would you convey

          8  to her our respect and our regrets that she could

          9  not be here and tell her that she very ably

         10  represented her and your cause. We are grateful for

         11  the information that you have given us and we have

         12  heard what you have said, and we will not forget

         13  your message.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 MS. ALLEY: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Dennis Bennett.

         17                 Would you identify yourself when you

         18  begin, by name, title and organization, please.

         19                 MR. BENNETT: My name is Dennis

         20  Bennett. I am founder of Vitrade.com, and I am

         21  Director of the Blue Nile Project in Sudan. I am a

         22  20-year banking veteran, former member of the

         23  Clearinghouse Committee of the New York Mercantile

         24  Exchange, a former lender to oil trading companies,

         25  former chief economist at the Federal Home Loan Bank
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          2  of Chicago and one the world's leading experts on

          3  global risk management. I have been an entrepreneur,

          4  a banker, a risk consultant to most of the major

          5  banks in the world. I am now working as a volunteer

          6  providing relief to the people of South Sudan and

          7  maintain the Vitrate.com web site.

          8                 Madam Chairperson and Committee, my

          9  one immediate suggestion to you is, don't get

         10  confused by extraneous things, keep following the

         11  money trail. The math is actually quite simple, if

         12  you follow down at the bottom of my testimony, point

         13  one, the Government of Sudan is bankrupt. If it was

         14  a city, if it was a state, it would have been

         15  declared bankrupt. It is considered a

         16  non-cooperating, up until the last month it was

         17  considered a non-cooperating nation by the IMF.

         18                 The war in South Sudan cost

         19  approximately $400 million per year. That is

         20  slightly over $1 million a day. Until the pipeline

         21  was completed in August of 1999, oil imports cost

         22  the government of Sudan approximately $500 million a

         23  year. What everyone keeps talking about in Talisman

         24  is because the oil companies, with the completion of

         25  the pipeline in August of 1999, the impact of that
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          2  company's effort, Talisman, CNPC, Petronas, the

          3  other oil companies working in South Sudan but

          4  primarily those three, is that they are able to save

          5  the government of Sudan $500 million a year. That is

          6  more than the war costs them annually.

          7                 The real question before the

          8  Government of Sudan and before all of the human

          9  rights advocates is where and how will the

         10  government spend its new found wealth. Over 20

         11  years, that's $10 billion of free, winning the

         12  lottery as it were.

         13                 If you look at the next page, the

         14  action of the Government of Sudan during the first

         15  week the oil pipeline was functionable or

         16  illustrative, they paid $2 million in back money to

         17  the IMF, and the IMF took them off the

         18  non-cooperating nation status. That gives them

         19  borrowing rights again on the international markets.

         20                 Second, they took delivery of 20

         21  Soviet-made T55 tanks from Poland by way Yemen,

         22  costing them $1.2 million.

         23                 We have already talked about the

         24  comments about Dr. Hassan al Turabi, about using oil

         25  proceeds for missile and tank factories, and you can
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          2  follow my comments on there.

          3                 Second point in Sudan, is that your

          4  company, actually the company that is owned by the

          5  people of New York, is actively providing oil to

          6  fuel, to kill women and children. This is not made

          7  up. It is not an allegation. This is documentable

          8  fact. They have been providing over 10,000 barrels

          9  of oil a day from the oil fields, which are in the

         10  highlight in yellow, up the red line to a little

         11  blue mark at a Refinery called El-Obeid, ten percent

         12  of that every day comes out as jet fuel, the major,

         13  according to unclassified U.S. Military sources, and

         14  Air Power Journal International, the primary air

         15  strip for bombing South Sudan in the Antonovs are

         16  based in El-Obeid and from there is where they are

         17  dropping, that is where they base the bombers and

         18  that is where the oil from the oil companies ends up

         19  first and foremost and has been since June of 1996.

         20                 Page three of my hand-out has

         21  footnotes from public disclosure documents,

         22  confirming state petroleum, which is the subsidiary

         23  entity owned first by Arakis Energy and now owned by

         24  Talisman Energy, stating publicly to its

         25  shareholders that, yes, in fact it has been
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          2  providing oil free of charge to the Government of

          3  Sudan since June of 1996. This is over 1 million

          4  barrels of oil by July of '97, you can assume at

          5  least another million barrels of oil by July of '98,

          6  another million barrels of oil by July of '99, that

          7  is 3 million barrels of oil, at ten percent of that,

          8  et cetera, et cetera, the map is very easy.

          9                 I have some additional comments that

         10  aren't in my prepared commentary, if you want to

         11  have a better map of Sudan, if you look at the very

         12  back page of my handout, there is a map of Sudan

         13  plus the oil fields owned by Talisman, CNPC and

         14  Petronas, as well as the route of the oil pipeline.

         15  There are some additional documents from the

         16  Government of Sudan regarding their oil industry and

         17  their plans and enticement to invest.

         18                 I would like to make a couple of

         19  comments to some of the background. The history of

         20  Talisman and Arakis, Talisman bought Arakis, the

         21  forerunner of this, a year ago. In September of

         22  1998, I had a meeting in front of the Canadian

         23  people with Mr. Jim Buckee before they concluded the

         24  purchase of Arakis. We warned him at that time that

         25  the oil was being used to bomb civilians and women
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          2  and children, and he poo-pooed the idea and

          3  basically denied that they were going to be involved

          4  in such a thing.

          5                 A year later they are still providing

          6  oil to the refinery, they are still providing fuel

          7  for the bombers and they are still bombing civilian

          8  hospitals.

          9                 Gum arabic is a small piece of the

         10  pie. So, when you are looking at the relative values

         11  of things, we are talking about $500 million a year

         12  of oil import savings, talking $400 million for the

         13  cost of the war. We are talking a total exports from

         14  gum arabic of $54 million, only $9 million of which

         15  is estimated to go to the United States. That is why

         16  the oil company concern.

         17                 Now, I would like to make a

         18  suggestion to your proposed legislation, and I would

         19  like to add to it and strengthen it actually because

         20  there are some things that you may not be aware of

         21  yet that are coming down the pike.

         22                 I would like to expand out the

         23  legislation to prohibit not only countries doing

         24  business in Sudan, as you have it written, but also

         25  to expand it to prohibit the underwriting of
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          2  securities of any businesses doing business in

          3  Sudan.

          4                 For example, China National Petroleum

          5  Company, also known as CNPC, is in the process of

          6  trying to raise $10 billion from the US financial

          7  markets, primarily on the New York Stock Exchange.

          8  They would dearly love to have access to doing your

          9  business as well, and therefore if you prohibit

         10  people doing underwriting for securities, that would

         11  mean that not only are you sending a signal to CNPC,

         12  which itself has spent over $2 billion in Sudanese

         13  oil projects, but it also is going to raise $10

         14  billion from here to backfill that amount and then

         15  do additional exploration.

         16                 And if you look at the attachments,

         17  on the back of my attachments, not now but later,

         18  there are explanations of what other oil fields CNPC

         19  has exploration rights to.

         20                 Most of the slavery is going on in

         21  the oil areas, much of it on concessions that are

         22  owned by CNPC.

         23                 My recommendation to the legislative

         24  aid that would be drafting the legislation, however,

         25  is to be cautious, and this is a public policy
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          2  issue, you might as well know about it up front, and

          3  that is, if you write the legislation correctly, the

          4  New York Stock Exchange would no longer be able to

          5  facilitate the trading of securities of businesses

          6  doing business in Sudan.

          7                 If you really want to make a

          8  statement, that is where you should make it.

          9                 Now, it is going to have the business

         10  interests all up in arms, but in reality Petronas is

         11  on New York Stock Exchange, Talisman is on the New

         12  York Stock Exchange, and while Pepsi and Coca Cola

         13  are not directly doing business in Sudan, these oil

         14  companies are and they are using U.S. Financial

         15  market to take advantage of it.

         16                 That is where the money is going.

         17                 So, the 186,000 shares that the

         18  pension fund has is in fact making the New York

         19  Retirees a direct owner in that.

         20                 And I am quite far afield and I

         21  apologize for that, by Mr. Hevesi asked a couple of

         22  comments that I would like to feedback to, and

         23  unfortunately he is not here to hear my answer

         24  directly.

         25                 One is, he said that he cannot sell
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          2  the stock just because it is involved in

          3  humanitarian abuses. Okay, fine. Mr. Hevesi, why

          4  don't you sell the stock because it is possibly

          5  going to be involved in other boycotts and therefore

          6  you should sell it because it is a fiduciary

          7  responsibility to sell before a boycott gets

          8  started.

          9                 I have lots of other things I would

         10  love to say, but I think I better stop there and let

         11  you ask the questions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: So far you have

         13  been hitting on cylinders, very good. Thank you.

         14                 MR. BENNETT: Well, then I will, since

         15  I am a volunteer in all of this, and some of your

         16  people have been visiting the Vitrade.com web site

         17  and I invite other people to. By the way, most of

         18  the source documents that are in this are also

         19  posted on the web site. Anything that you would like

         20  as a consultant or as some additional eyesight on

         21  some of these issues as you go through the process,

         22  I would be more than happy to assist.

         23                 I do most of my work out of Seattle

         24  area, but it is mostly on Email, so I would be more

         25  than happy to work with your staff on that as you go
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          2  along.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, thank you.

          4  And we will take advantage of that.

          5                 MR. BENNETT: You are very welcome.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay. Are there

          7  any questions?

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 Can we take just a couple of seconds,

         10  I would like to do a sound of the house and see who

         11  is still here.

         12                 Mark T. Ajo. Just raise your hand if

         13  you are still here. Okay, I just wanted to know if

         14  you are still here.

         15                 Sir Moshe Birr-nea. I just wanted to

         16  know if you were still here, sir. Have a seat.

         17                 Samuel Cotton. Okay, thank you.

         18                 William Levy. Samuel Hirsch. Is that

         19  Jimmy Mulla? Okay. Shannon Taylor. Is there anyone's

         20  whose name I didn't call? Okay, thank you.

         21                 Mr. Hill, would you proceed. Thank

         22  you for your patience.

         23                 MR. HILL: My name is Norman Hill, and

         24  I am here today both as President of the A. Philip

         25  Randolph Institute, a national organization
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          2  primarily of black trade unionists, committed to

          3  economic justice and racial equality; and as a

          4  trustee and member of the National Executive Board

          5  of Freedom House, one of the most respected human

          6  rights organizations in America.

          7                 Let me begin by thanking the Council

          8  for holding this hearing on divestment of City

          9  pension funds from the Talisman Energy Company of

         10  Alberta, Canada. That company is operating in ways

         11  that assists the Government of the East African

         12  Nation of the Sudan in carrying out genocidal

         13  actions in that unfortunate country's civil war. I

         14  congratulate the Council for being the first

         15  governmental body in the United States to debate

         16  divestment from Talisman.

         17                 Before getting to the divestment

         18  issue, let me offer some background about the

         19  tragedy that is unfolding in the Sudan.

         20                 For decades, black Africans in the

         21  central and southern areas of that nation have been

         22  fighting a guerrilla war against the government in

         23  Khartoum, which is dominated by the Arab population

         24  of the north. Bloody as this conflict has been from

         25  the beginning, it has become far more vicious since
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          2  1989, when the National Islamic Front took power in

          3  Khartoum, capital of Sudan.

          4                 The National Islamic Front is a

          5  fundamentalist Muslim organization that is

          6  determined to force Islam upon the entire Sudanese

          7  nation and destroy those who refuse to convert.  The

          8  northern Arab population is overwhelmingly Muslim.

          9  The mostly black central and southern populations

         10  consist mostly of Christians and believers in

         11  traditional African religions, known as animists.

         12                 These non-Muslims make up close to 30

         13  percent of the country's population. The National

         14  Islamic Front's religious crusade has added a deadly

         15  new dimension to the civil war in the Sudan. For

         16  Khartoum, the conflict is not just a political and

         17  military struggle, but a religious crusade against

         18  non-Muslims.

         19                 The Sudanese government

         20  systematically bombs and burns central and southern

         21  villages. The government also sends in its Popular

         22  Defense Forces and local tribal bands to raid the

         23  villages. Many of those seized are herded into

         24  so-called peace villages, which are really

         25  concentration camps. There, women are often raped by
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          2  government soldiers. Young, non-Muslim males among

          3  the captives are forcibly converted to Islam and

          4  then sent out into battle. Those Christians who

          5  refuse to convert, including clergy, are often

          6  imprisoned, tortured, flogged, and killed -

          7  sometimes even crucified.

          8                 The government is also using food as

          9  a weapon of war. In the central Sudan the regime has

         10  rounded up over 170,000 people and placed them in 70

         11  of the so-called peace villages. The government

         12  offers food - but only to those who convert to

         13  Islam. Many agree in order to save their children

         14  from starvation.

         15                 There is another dimension to the

         16  civil war that is unique in today's world. Believe

         17  it or not, the enslavement of black Africans is

         18  occurring in the Sudan and is an integral part of

         19  the government's war campaign. This has been

         20  documented by journalists, UN observers, and a few

         21  courageous Arab intellectuals from the north.

         22                 The targets are non-Islamic women and

         23  children, and the number of victims has been

         24  estimated in the many thousands, perhaps tens of

         25  thousands.
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          2                 Certain Arab tribes have

          3  traditionally enslaved black Africans, but now they

          4  are being assisted by the regime. Where once the

          5  Arabs came into town on camels, now they ride in on

          6  government-provided jeeps and armored vehicles and

          7  carry automatic weapons.

          8                 Government soldiers come along as

          9  back-up. The Dinka tribe, which lives near Arab land

         10  in the western Sudan, has frequently been victimized

         11  by this practice. Sometimes the government is even

         12  more directly involved, shipping captives to the

         13  north by railroad and then distributing them as

         14  slaves to private citizens.

         15                 Khartoum's war against non-Muslims

         16  amounts to a huge human rights disaster. Over

         17  200,000 members of the Nuba tribe alone, 15 percent

         18  of the pre-1989 Nuba population, have been killed.

         19  Hundreds of thousands in the central and southern

         20  Sudan have been displaced. Rape, forced starvation

         21  and slavery have plagued the nation.

         22                 Earlier, when I used the word

         23  genocidal to describe the Sudanese government's

         24  actions, I was speaking advisedly.

         25                 Others are using the same term. In
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          2  June 1999 the United States House of Representatives

          3  employed it in a resolution that denounced the

          4  regime's war policies. Just two months ago, the

          5  Catholic Bishops of the Association of the Episcopal

          6  Conferences of Eastern Africa stated that, quote,

          7  "The war...has assumed truly genocidal dimensions."

          8                 In addition, UN envoys to the Sudan

          9  and the U.S. Department of State support claims of

         10  massive human rights violations.

         11                 Now I would like to explain how the

         12  Canadian-based Talisman Energy company fits into

         13  this grisly picture. Talisman has been developing

         14  the oil resources of the Sudan and has recently

         15  begun pumping oil. The flow is expected to reach

         16  some 250,000 barrels a day. The Sudanese government

         17  will receive five percent of the revenues. The

         18  regime is spending about $1 million a day on the war

         19  and is nearly bankrupt. Oil income will solve that

         20  problem and, in addition, enable the government to

         21  build factories to manufacture missiles and tanks,

         22  thereby widening its advantage in the war. That's

         23  not my opinion. That's what Hassan Turabi, speaker

         24  of the Sudanese Parliament, said only months ago.

         25                 Just as the regime is willing to do
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          2  anything to win the war, it is doing everything

          3  necessary to secure the country's oil fields.

          4                 The Sudanese Army is systematically

          5  uprooting indigenous people from Sudan's most

          6  lucrative oil deposits.

          7                 In June, the army sent 12,000 troops

          8  supported by tanks and planes, to wreak havoc on

          9  villages near Talisman's Unity Oil Field.

         10                 Clearly, Talisman is an integral part

         11  of the Government's genocidal activities. It

         12  provides revenues that enable the Khartoum to

         13  continue its genocidal war, while Khartoum in turn

         14  commits genocidal practices to defend the company's

         15  oil properties.

         16                 What is Talisman's reaction to

         17  genocide in the Sudan? It arrogantly dismisses the

         18  overwhelming evidence. The company claims that the

         19  UN, the U.S. State Department, reputable human

         20  rights groups, the bishops of East Africa, and many

         21  others are all wrong, and that the charges are what

         22  Talisman has called "lurid and exaggerated."

         23                 Furthermore, there is every reason to

         24  believe that this corporate malefactor will hold

         25  firm. Just last Monday, Comptroller Alan Hevesi sent
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          2  a letter to James Buckee, the CEO of Talisman.

          3  Noting that the New York City pension fund holds

          4  186,000 shares of Talisman stock, the Comptroller

          5  expressed his concern over a report of the American

          6  Anti-Slavery Group that accuses Talisman of

          7  complicity in the Sudanese government's campaign of

          8  terror. I don't know if Mr. Buckee has responded to

          9  the Comptroller, but I do know that last Wednesday

         10  he told concerned Evangelical Fellowship

         11  Canadians that the accusations against the regime

         12  were lies.

         13                 Councilwomen and Councilmen, I

         14  believe this is the time for the City of New York, a

         15  city famous for its diversity, and tolerance, to

         16  take a stand against religious persecution, racism,

         17  slavery, rape, killing, forced starvation, and

         18  torture by supporting the divestment of the city

         19  funds from Talisman.

         20                 Your action, ladies and gentlemen, is

         21  especially important because it is needed to break

         22  the strange silence that has surrounded the genocide

         23  in the Sudan.

         24                 For some reason, the disaster there

         25  has received far less attention here than other
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          2  catastrophes like Bosnia and Kosovo. Perhaps some do

          3  not want to appear to be attacking a poor

          4  third-world country. Perhaps some are reluctant to

          5  appear to be scapegoating Muslims, who are often

          6  unfairly stereotyped here as terrorists.

          7                 Some have explained the silence as

          8  compassion fatigue, but this can't be, because it

          9  has persisted for so long, including a time when the

         10  United States led a military crusade on behalf of

         11  human rights in Kosovo.

         12                 And while indifference to, and

         13  ignorance of, Africa is widespread in the United

         14  States, that may not be as important a factor as it

         15  first seems. After all, the slaughter of half a

         16  million Tutsi tribespeople in Rwanda in the

         17  mid-1990s got considerable attention here. And on

         18  his trip to Africa, President Bill Clinton even

         19  apologized for U.S. inaction in Rwanda. The fact

         20  that the Sudanese situation is a civil war can't be

         21  an explanation for inactivity, because Serbia's

         22  attack on Kosovo was part of a civil war, too.

         23                 And it's not that the Sudanese

         24  government and the United States are great friends.

         25  Quite the contrary. Washington is convinced that the
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          2  Sudan is promoting Islamic fundamentalist terrorism

          3  around the world.

          4                 In sum, there is simply no good

          5  reason to perpetuate the silence over the Sudan and

          6  every reason to help that country's suffering

          7  people. Our request is very modest. We ask for no

          8  sacrifice in blood or treasure. All we request is an

          9  end to the inadvertent support of Sudanese terror by

         10  divestment from genocide. Ladies and gentlemen, New

         11  York is the nation's leading city. When New York

         12  speaks, the rest of the country listens. How fitting

         13  it would be, then, if this municipal government

         14  became the American spearhead for human rights in

         15  the Sudan. And so I urge you again to do everything

         16  possible to assure this city's divestment from

         17  Talisman Energy.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you for

         20  your testimony. And let me ask you first, do you

         21  have a copy of your statement?

         22                 MR. HILL: I will leave this with you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, fine. We

         24  appreciate that. And of course, coming as you do

         25  from a very distinguished organization, we

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            127

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  appreciate very much the statement that you have

          3  read into the record, and we appreciate your

          4  appearance.

          5                 MR. HILL: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Mark T. Ajo.

          7                 Please be seated and give us your

          8  name, your title and the organization that you are

          9  representing.

         10                 MR. AJO: My name is Mart T. Ajo, and

         11  I am a Southern Sudanese citizen, born in the south

         12  of the Sudan in Juba. Grew up there, got educated

         13  there for a period of time, and then like many

         14  people of my generation, went into exile during the

         15  1960s until 1970s and then came back to the country,

         16  and I continue to work in the country.

         17                 I am here today as a member of the

         18  Southern Sudan, Seeds for Peace for Southern Sudan,

         19  and it is a group of concerned Americans and

         20  Sudanese who are trying to promote ways to bring

         21  peace to the Sudan, first of all by stopping the

         22  atrocities that have already been eloquently said by

         23  the people who have spoken before me here, to assure

         24  that some process of conciliation and some processes

         25  of finding a way of reviving life in our country can
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          2  be brought about.

          3                 Many things have already been said,

          4  and I don't want to go into that. I really want to

          5  bring into the attention of this Council, first of

          6  all, my gratitude for having allowed, even thus far

          7  to let the situation come up to your Council. You

          8  know, the murdering in my country is not a new

          9  thing, as some of you have already stated. I am

         10  about 56 years old, of those 56 years, almost 40 of

         11  them have been spent in running around, have been

         12  spent in alerting people, children, young men, young

         13  women and so on. So, you can imagine that it is a

         14  very long, long situation.

         15                 But the situation, as it has already

         16  been pointed out, that exists, very tragic genocide

         17  occurs, especially in the last ten years, when the

         18  National Islamic Front took government in the Sudan.

         19  They carried it really to the extreme, the policies

         20  of the Northern Sudanese Government previous to them

         21  in the Sudan, to the point that now they are

         22  demanding either total capitulation of the people of

         23  Southern Sudan conversion to Islam, arabinization or

         24  we must leave the country. And if we don't leave the

         25  country, then they exterminate us. And because our
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          2  people cannot leave the country, the 13 million and

          3  so people cannot leave the country, the government

          4  is literally exterminating everybody, and that is

          5  what I would like to speak on, especially my own

          6  personal situation, because I think it will bring

          7  the human aspect to this hearing. This may give a

          8  little bit of light to the members of this Council,

          9  to the members of the New York City core concern,

         10  that we as human beings leave our collars aside

         11  (sic), leave our social belonging aside, leave our

         12  politics outside, as human beings we cannot tolerate

         13  this situation to go on. Because if they continue

         14  the way they are going on, it is not only the Sudan

         15  that is being poisoned, but also the whole world is

         16  being poisoned by the blood of innocent children.

         17                 I mentioned that I worked in Sudan

         18  until 1970. My work is with a church, I am a church

         19  worker. My work in the church has been dedicated to

         20  the education of children, to the recovery of our

         21  children after the earlier war, to try to rebuild

         22  the life of our people, and we tried to do that

         23  through bringing our people together, whether they

         24  be Muslim or Christian, or whether they belong to

         25  the Northern group or to the Southern group.
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          2                 Unfortunately this has been, I mean

          3  violated, this has been interrupted.

          4                 I come here as a concerned person. In

          5  the area in which I come from, which is around Juba,

          6  the town of Juba, which is the capital of the

          7  Southern Sudan, the whole population from Juba to

          8  Torit, from Juba to Bara, from Juba to Mariti and

          9  going on to Bahr el Ghazal, this area is totally

         10  decimated. There are not living in these places,

         11  many of the people have either been shot and killed,

         12  a number of them have been herded in the Juba town,

         13  into the town of Juba or into the other towns under

         14  government control, and these people daily are being

         15  tortured. You have to imagine, the whole town is

         16  controlled by landmines, so nobody escapes from this

         17  place.

         18                 The government soldiers go into the

         19  town, into the village where the people live, they

         20  round up women, young children as old as seven years

         21  of age, they take them to the Garison (phonetic),

         22  these children are raped night long. In the morning

         23  they are let go. Then that evening again they come

         24  and they take other girls. Many of the children,

         25  their arms have been broken, many of the children
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          2  have died in this kind of mistreatment that they are

          3  getting in the hands of the government soldiers who

          4  are in the town of Juba and also in the town of

          5  Malakal or in the town of Wau. My own niece had

          6  fallen victim to this situation. This is a

          7  12-year-old kid that, like your own children, you

          8  know born into the family, loved by the family,

          9  cared by the family, was taken before my own brother

         10  and she died as a result of the rape.

         11                 I am bringing this situation to you

         12  so that when you are considering this deliberation

         13  about what you want to do with the government of the

         14  Sudan, what you want to do with the economy of the

         15  United States, I want to point out to you that human

         16  lives are affected. The children are born into

         17  families, with mothers and fathers and fathers and

         18  sisters who love them very dearly, who have a lot of

         19  hope for them, like any mother, like any father in

         20  the world have a hope for their children. The

         21  children are taken from us. Of course we, the

         22  grown-ups, either we are out in exile, like myself,

         23  or else we are dead.

         24                 So the question I am posing to you,

         25  and you know, I want to support this statement. It
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          2  is true that the Council of New York City may be a

          3  voice crying in the desert, but I think it is

          4  worthwhile at least for one individual, for one

          5  group of people to say this is intolerable. We

          6  cannot come back again like we have come with the

          7  Holocaust and then say, well, you know, we didn't

          8  know about it, we should have done something about

          9  it, we cannot look at this evil being done in the

         10  Sudan, whether it is done in the name of Islam or in

         11  the name of arabism or done in the name of whatever,

         12  I don't know, we cannot say that this should

         13  continue. It should be stopped. And I think that my

         14  brothers and sisters who have spoken earlier here

         15  heartened me as a Southern Sudanese, because I lived

         16  there, our voices now in this country, one here one

         17  there, they are crying in the desert, but I believe

         18  there are voices now crying, saying that there is

         19  violation of human rights in Sudan, there is abuse

         20  of innocent little children in Sudan, there is abuse

         21  of women in the Sudan, there is abuse of people who

         22  are minding their business. They don't even ask

         23  anything from the Government of Sudan, these people

         24  have been abused.

         25                 We as a human family, and I come from
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          2  a traditional Southern Sudanese family, I became a

          3  Christian, but in the belief of my tradition of

          4  Sudanese people, where I come from, spilling of

          5  human blood, and to spill that human blood without

          6  any intervention from the human community that is

          7  around it, poison that human community, and I don't

          8  think we want to let it go on.

          9                 So, I am appealing to you, my

         10  brothers and sisters, as human beings, with human

         11  hearts, please help us. Make a statement. It may not

         12  go anywhere. The rest of the world may continue to

         13  say this is a problem there with black people, with

         14  African people, we don't care, but at least somebody

         15  will have made the point and made a statement, this

         16  is wrong, this is wrong, this is wrong. And I think

         17  that is what this is all about.

         18                 So, if you have questions, you may

         19  ask me.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I don't think I

         21  could have a question for that. What you are just

         22  simply saying is speak up. Speak up for people who

         23  need our voices. Tell the world about what is

         24  happening to us, and let them know that this can't

         25  continue. And we have heard you.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 William Ochan Levi.

          4                 MR. OCHAN LEVI: (Difficult to discern

          5  due to dialect.) My name is William Ochan Levi, the

          6  founder and president of Operation Nehemiah

          7  International for the past six years we have been

          8  involved in doing development work in the Sudan,

          9  particularly in the Southern Sudan. I, myself, is a

         10  South Sudanese myself, born and raised in that

         11  country. 1964, I was born in 1624 in the Southern

         12  Sudan during the first civil war.

         13                 I describe myself as somebody born in

         14  the middle of the war, raised in the war. And spent

         15  most of my time as a refuge. I describe myself as

         16  one of the remnants of the people who have been

         17  persecuted for their faith as Christians in Sudan.

         18  And I sit here and say here I am proud to be a

         19  Christian and I am not ashamed of the gospel of

         20  Jesus Christ, and it is for this reason that I am

         21  here, in exile in the United States. But God called

         22  me to rise up and speak on behalf of my people and I

         23  do thank you, all of you, for standing with us in

         24  this cause.

         25                 I would like to start this way: The
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          2  Honorable Peter Vallone and the body of the Council

          3  of the City of New York, I greet you on behalf of

          4  the persecuted Christians and the voiceless people

          5  of the Sudan and those in the same household of

          6  faith in America.

          7                 My name, I have already introduced

          8  myself to you, my name is William Ochan Levi,

          9  President and founder of Operation Nehemiah

         10  International, Incorporated. We are functioning out

         11  of the State of New Jersey. Operation Nehemiah is a

         12  U.S. based non-profit Christian organization,

         13  established to support the persecuted Christians in

         14  Sudan and also Sudanese refugees in neighboring

         15  countries. It is embarked on the relief and

         16  development by sending over 4 million of relief

         17  supplies, $4 million worth of relief supplies in the

         18  past six years to Sudan, including educational

         19  materials, agricultural tools, blankets, clothing,

         20  bibles, medical equipment and medicine.

         21                 Operation Nehemiah wants to thank you

         22  for giving us the opportunity to present the

         23  following testimony on behalf of the persecuted

         24  Christians and the marginalized people of Sudan.

         25                 As is written in the Book of Hebrew,
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          2  13:3, "to remember them; and them that suffer

          3  adversity, as being as yourselves in the body."

          4                 South Sudan is part of Sudan which is

          5  Africa's largest country. It comprises over 9

          6  million Christians from various denominations,

          7  ranging from Roman Catholicism, to all the

          8  evangelical denominations.

          9                 The Government of Sudan is run by the

         10  iron hand of a small clique of Islamic leaders. The

         11  military junta that runs Sudan is racing to be the

         12  first regime in Africa to impose Shari's, orthodox

         13  Islamic law. Such hostile countries as Iran, Libya

         14  and Syria, with the aim of exporting Islam to the

         15  entire African continent support the Islamic segment

         16  of the Sudan by the Year 2000.

         17                 Young boys and girls are taken into

         18  slavery or into intensive Koranic schooling where

         19  they are systematically brainwashed and turned

         20  against Christianity and their families. Even

         21  Touched by Angel, one of America's popular TV shows,

         22  was gripped by this horrific human atrocity talking

         23  place in Sudan. Just last Sunday, September 26th,

         24  they put out a play to depict this horrible

         25  situation taking place in the Sudan. It is time for
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          2  America to rise up.

          3                 Women and young girls are brought to

          4  "peace camps" where they are raped unceasingly by

          5  Islamic army to produce bastard children brought up

          6  in Islamic faith. Young men are killed or forcibly

          7  conscripted into the ever growing Islamic army and

          8  sent back to fight their own families, destroying

          9  their own churches and raping their own mothers and

         10  sisters.

         11                 The persecution has so far claimed

         12  the lives of over 2 million people and has displaced

         13  over 4 million others to foreign lands. The world

         14  community to stop the genocide going on in the Sudan

         15  has received very little help and their government

         16  categorically deny any charges held against them

         17  regarding human rights violations.

         18                 The following are documented

         19  testimonies:

         20                 On July 23rd, 1999, the Sudan Islamic

         21  regime bombed the towns of Lanya and Kaya with

         22  chemical and biological bombs. The effect of this

         23  bomb blast has affected the whole community.

         24  According to Sebastian Andrew Kuj, our communication

         25  field director, there is a report of pregnant women
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          2  aborting children, people are vomiting blood, and

          3  goats, and cattle and even birds are dying from. The

          4  Islamic regime of the Sudan are claiming no

          5  responsibility.

          6                 The United Nations sent some

          7  investigator to find out what was happening. They

          8  didn't go to the scene where this atrocity was

          9  taking place, citing that they didn't have proper

         10  equipment.

         11                 On May 8th, 1998, Operation

         12  Nehemian's oversees director, Reverend Michael

         13  Longwa, he worked with Brother Cromwell from Santa

         14  Margarita, he went to Tonj to distribute clothing,

         15  food and bibles to the Christians there. He saw

         16  firsthand that Islamic forces had invaded the area

         17  and they were quite overwhelmed by what they saw on

         18  the ground, the suffering of the people.

         19                 On that day we brought food to one of

         20  the worst war hunger and disease-stricken places in

         21  the Sudan. The town has over 50,000 displaced

         22  people. The whole community has been running for

         23  their lives, hunger and disease and death caught up

         24  with them. There is nothing else but pure

         25  devastation of lives.
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          2                 Sudan Islamic regime has done

          3  everything within their power to eradicate and

          4  uproot Christians from their homes.

          5                 They have stricken terror in the

          6  hearts of the people. The Islamic regime of

          7  Khartoum, with their defense force, in the name of

          8  Jiha has used all sort of horrible things against

          9  the civilian population, ranging from burning down

         10  churches, slavery, raping to induce famine to

         11  destroy Christian community. Khartoum Islamic regime

         12  has put a no flight zone policy in the area whereby

         13  no humanitarian plane can bring in food.

         14                 Everything that Michael recorded in

         15  the video, which I have been watching, is nothing

         16  else but death. The whole place is littered with the

         17  smell of dead bodies and skeletons. There are 10

         18  people dying of hunger every day even as we speak.

         19  That was back in May. This is only known figures.

         20                 You can see in these pictures, it is

         21  horrible, too weak to bury their own dead. They

         22  can't even put food to their mouth. One shallow

         23  grave measuring just one foot deep is used to bury

         24  over five, six dead bodies. Hyenas come and pull

         25  dead bodies from the graves for food. Human skulls

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            140

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  and bones are all over the place.

          3                 Birds are feeding on human flesh.

          4  People who are alive are too weak to stand on their

          5  feet or even walk. Many of them collapsed in the

          6  open field where they die there without attention.

          7  The people eat wild leaves and wild seed, which are

          8  very poisonous for the stomach. A lot of them are

          9  dying of stomachache resulting from eating this kind

         10  of fruits.

         11                 There are all sorts of disease and

         12  malnutrition. Leprosy, blindness, is everywhere.

         13  Sanitation is extremely poor.

         14                 Great destruction on the community.

         15  Churches were burned to the ground along with other

         16  buildings and many people were killed or have fled

         17  for their lives.

         18                 On July 21, 1997, Operation

         19  Nehemiah's overseas Director Reverend Michael

         20  Longwa, traveled to the town of Nyamlell, South

         21  Sudan, to distribute clothing, food and bibles to

         22  the Christians there. He saw firsthand that Islamic

         23  forces had invaded Nyamlell, and caused great

         24  destruction in the community. Churches were burned

         25  to the ground.
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          2                 Lual Deng, aged 13, from Myamlell,

          3  had been caught in the March 1995 raid and managed

          4  to escape. But on the way three Arab militiamen who

          5  beat him with sticks and stabbed him in both hips

          6  with knives caught him so that he would not be able

          7  to walk. They left him lying wounded on the ground.

          8  He managed to crawl home.

          9                 On June 2nd, 1997, again our field

         10  director, Michael Longwa, took agricultural

         11  supplies, hoes, seed and bibles to Yei, Kajokeji,

         12  Onduruba and Kalipapa in the South Sudan. This is an

         13  area liberated by the Sudanese people liberation

         14  army in April of 1997. There he reported on the

         15  destruction caused by the fleeing Islamic forces who

         16  had been occupying that area for years. They had

         17  burned down all the churches and turned schools into

         18  Military trenches and toilets. They had subdued the

         19  civilian population and forced children under their

         20  control into Koranic schools.

         21                 In February 1997, Michael Longwa from

         22  Operation Nehemiah and Kevin Turner of the Voice of

         23  the Martyrs along with two other missionaries from

         24  Frontline Fellowship flew into the Nuba Mountains,

         25  Sudan to distribute food, clothing and bibles to the
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          2  Christians in that area.

          3                 As the charter plane landed, they

          4  were ambushed by a Sudan Islamic gunship. Reverend

          5  Michael was wounded in the arm as bullets paraded

          6  the area killing three people on the ground and

          7  wounding others. Michael, Kevin and the two

          8  missionaries were forced to walk for 90 miles

          9  through the wilderness to get a flight to Nairobi,

         10  Kenya.

         11                 Samuel, aged 25, left the Nuba

         12  Mountains because of the Khartoum regime policy of

         13  ethnic cleansing. Soldiers attacked his village and

         14  shot his father until he died. Thereafter, his

         15  mother begged him to leave home for his own safety.

         16  He left with a group of five others, to go to

         17  Khartoum. On the way, they were ambushed and shot by

         18  soldiers. Three were killed and one was missing -

         19  never heard of again. Out of six, only two survived.

         20  Samuel was later arrested in Khartoum for no reason.

         21  He was told: "If you become a Muslim, you will be

         22  all right. You had better give up Christianity and

         23  join the real religion. If not, you will be hanged."

         24                 Christian Solidarity International

         25  met with the Episcopalian clergyman and head of the
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          2  Nuba Mountains, Council of Churches, Reverend

          3  Barnaba, and the senior catechist, including George

          4  Abdo Kodi Tutu. They reported that their church in

          5  the Nuba Mountains has been completely isolated for

          6  the past ten years, and that their own bishops are

          7  all in Khartoum. During those years of isolation, 26

          8  churches have been destroyed by GOS troops. All

          9  together five Episcopalian clergymen has been

         10  murdered by the regime in Khartoum: Reverend Koki

         11  from Heiban and the Reverends Haroun Fadil, John

         12  Fadil, Bolis Al Marcu and Reverend Angarko El Haraba

         13  from Omdurain.

         14                 I witnessed this with my own eyes,

         15  point number nine. Mario Kani, he arrived in

         16  Atlanta, Georgia in November 1997, and he stayed in

         17  my own house, from the South Sudan to receive

         18  medical treatment for an artificial leg replacement.

         19  Mario's leg was blown off in May 1996 by an Islamic

         20  landmine in Parajok, South Sudan, while working for

         21  Norwegian Church Aide. He was in pursuit of rescuing

         22  a pregnant woman who was also blown up by a

         23  landmine. The woman died. The baby was saved.

         24                 Mario and many others mentioned today

         25  are living testimonies of many Christians and
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          2  marginalized people of the Sudan who have suffered

          3  the cruelty and brutality of Islamic forces in the

          4  Sudan.

          5                 The government of Sudan, by force and

          6  against the wishes of the vast majority of its

          7  population, both North and South, continues to

          8  transform the ethnically and religiously diverse

          9  country into an aggressive hostile Arab, Islamic

         10  state with no regard for human dignity and

         11  diversity. I have attached to my testimony

         12  recommendations that I believe would be helpful in

         13  stopping the persecution in Sudan. I have attached

         14  to my testimony recommendations that I believe will

         15  be helpful in stopping the persecution in Sudan.

         16                 The recommendations goes this way:

         17                 Call upon the US government to

         18  prevail upon the Government of Sudan to cease

         19  hostilities and destruction of churches and people

         20  of South Sudan, the Nuba Mountains, the Blue Nile

         21  and the Beja territories, and to honor its

         22  voluntarily human rights obligation to all its

         23  citizens.

         24                 Build upon UN Security Council

         25  Resolution 1044 by imposing sanctions of increasing
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          2  severity, including if necessary, arms, economic,

          3  oil embargoes -- I can emphasize enough what my

          4  colleagues have said about Talisman, but this is a

          5  serious issue and it must be taken seriously -- and

          6  air exclusions zones to diminish the Government's

          7  capacity to wage war against its own people.

          8                 Support the IGADD peace process to

          9  ensure that the Government of Sudan is prevented

         10  from using these Peace talks as a means of buying

         11  time to perpetuate its war of attrition.

         12                 Establish a regular dialogue with

         13  representatives of Sudan People Liberation Army as

         14  it develops policies to promote peace and justice

         15  for all of the people of Sudan, on the basis of

         16  IGADD Declaration of Principles.

         17                 Insist on access for human rights

         18  monitors to visit all areas of Sudan - in the North,

         19  the Nuba Mountains and the South, under the

         20  direction of the UN Special Rapporteur for Human

         21  Rights in Sudan. These monitors could investigate

         22  the extent of slavery and other violations of Human

         23  Rights, and could initiate a slave-tracing program.

         24                 Insist that all parts of Sudan should

         25  be open to access by humanitarian aid organizations
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          2  especially all the SPLA-controlled areas of the

          3  South Sudan.

          4                 Support the SPLM/A's Conference on

          5  civil Society and is longer term efforts to promote

          6  the values and institutions of civil society. We

          7  believe this initiative is a sign of hope for the

          8  future and is in contrast to the brutal totalitarian

          9  policies currently being promoted by the GOS, which

         10  have caused, and are still causing, incalculable

         11  suffering to the people of Sudan.

         12                 Thank you so much. And I can tell you

         13  that my father was killed by the Islamic government.

         14  My mother was driven to the Vigi camps, and I am

         15  here to help as a voice, and I want to encourage you

         16  in your effort and your ability to help us.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I am going to

         18  encourage you.

         19                 MR. OCHAN LEVI: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: We have heard

         21  your statement, and what I really would like you to

         22  do, before everyone leaves, so that they will have

         23  some time, and an audience to listen to them, to

         24  conclude. And I thank you for your testimony.

         25                 I would like you also, I don't know
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          2  if you made copies for this Committee?

          3                 MR. OCHAN LEVI: Yes, I have already

          4  given you a copy there.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, fine.

          6                 MR. OCHAN LEVI: But I will give you

          7  even more.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Give them to the

          9  Sergeant-At-Arms. You have given them to the

         10  Sergeant-At-Arms?

         11                 MR. OCHAN LEVI: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT okay, good. Then

         13  we will read the statement.  And your

         14  recommendations are part of your statement?

         15                 MR. OCHAN LEVI: Yes, it is attached.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, fine. And

         17  thank you very, very much.

         18                 MR. OCHAN LEVI: I appreciate it.

         19  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Jimmy Mulla.

         21  Followed by Sir Moshe Birr-Nea.

         22                 Thank you. Would you please identify

         23  yourself by name and title. And please remember,

         24  there is someone coming after you and there will be

         25  another hearing hopefully and you will have an
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          2  opportunity to speak again possibly.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MR. MULLA: Thank you very much. My

          5  name is Jimmy Mulla. I am from Southern Sudan.

          6                 We are called the Southern Sudan

          7  Voice of Freedom, we have Sudanese based in

          8  Washington, D.C.

          9                 We work with the Center for Religious

         10  in Washington, D.C. Our group is trying to advocate

         11  for peace, for justice, for stability and for

         12  democracy for our people who are suffering in

         13  Southern Sudan, and that is why I am here to testify

         14  on their behalf.

         15                 According to our findings, the New

         16  York pension funds contain about 186,000 shares of

         17  stock of the Canadian Talisman, and Vanguard and

         18  Fidelity Mutual Funds, the National Teachers Funds

         19  also holds Talisman stock.

         20                 The Talisman NIG company is an oil

         21  company that has an immoral oil deal with the Sudan

         22  Government, therefore, allow me to present you the

         23  great danger that is posed by this business

         24  partnership to the very existence of the voiceless

         25  people, the neglected people and the people of
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          2  Southern Sudan and the Nuba Mountains.

          3                 As you may all be aware, the National

          4  Islamic Government of Sudan has declared (unable to

          5  discern due to dialect in language), and that has

          6  had a devastating effect on the political and

          7  socioeconomic conditions of our people in the past

          8  16 years. The dimensions of the human suffering in

          9  the region are beyond description. Two-million

         10  people have lost their lives, 1.5 million are

         11  displaced, and 4.5 million displaced in areas all

         12  fled to countries neighboring Sudan.

         13                 The National Islamic Front Government

         14  has systematically starved the people in the south

         15  and the Nuba Mountains, following the 1989

         16  resolution giving it power or veto of where food

         17  supplies can be distributed.

         18                 Civil and humanitarian centers are

         19  constant targets for the government bombardment.

         20  Government forces and trained militias have

         21  conducted raids in villages in the south, banning

         22  houses, looting and abducted women and children and

         23  forced them into slavery.

         24                 They led us in a series of atrocities

         25  committed by the government, the use of chemical
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          2  weapons in south, in terms of Kaya and Lanya. There

          3  is hardcore evidence of the use of chemical weapons,

          4  however, it is disheartening to note that the United

          5  Nations decided not to send a team of experts to

          6  conduct a thorough investigation into this

          7  allegation.

          8                 The National Islamic Front Government

          9  is a sponsor of terrorism creating regional and

         10  international instability. The assassination attempt

         11  on the life of the Egyptian President and the

         12  bombing of the World Trade Center in New York are a

         13  few among many of their evil practices.

         14                 Therefore, the economic empowerment

         15  of the NIF government will only encourage them to

         16  further their acts of aggression and terrorism in

         17  the name of their so-called jihad against humanity.

         18                 The Sudan Government officially

         19  announced that revenue from the oil investment will

         20  be used to finance the weapons factory to sustain

         21  the war.

         22                 This should not be undermined, for

         23  business purposes by Malaysia, China, the list of

         24  countries investing in the oil and the stockholders

         25  in those companies as well.
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          2                 The NIF government has already

          3  inflicted great suffering upon the people in

          4  Southern Sudan and the Nuba Mountains, so enough is

          5  enough. It is time to stop the genocide, the rape,

          6  torture, killing and persecution of Christians by

          7  Muslims.

          8                 The NIF Government has on several

          9  occasions said that they only need the land in the

         10  south and not the people. Some Arab and radical

         11  Islamic countries have made the statement as well.

         12                 The NIF Government has begun a

         13  propaganda campaign in the Middle East and Western

         14  countries to support, while hiding their true

         15  nature. That Arab (unable to discern due to dialect

         16  in language) meeting in Cairo support the NIF

         17  Government and issued a statement condemning the

         18  efforts to end the war.

         19                 Theses are indications that the NIF

         20  Government is not prepared to commit itself to the

         21  societal (unable to discern due to dialect in

         22  language). It is therefore inappropriate to engage

         23  in any business deal with the NIF Government in this

         24  crucial moment in time.

         25                 The Voices of Freedom has some
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          2  recommendations which we put down here.

          3                 One is to divest from the Talisman

          4  Energy, Inc., and immediately focus towards stopping

          5  the genocide, the slavery the starvation and the

          6  religious persecution.

          7                 To support the UN, to conduct

          8  thorough investigations into the atrocities

          9  committed by the NIF Government, to prove their evil

         10  practices.

         11                 And also to join hands to develop the

         12  peace process of the Intergovernmental Authority on

         13  development IGAAD, which calls for a UN   referendum

         14  offering the South the choice of self-determination.

         15                 And also to urge the United Nations

         16  Security Council to force immediate creation of safe

         17  havens in the South, to allow delivery of

         18  humanitarian aid to the needy.

         19                 Also, to urge the UN Security Council

         20  to impose international economic sanctions on the

         21  NIF Government, and set up a tribunal to bring trial

         22  to persons responsible for the atrocities committed

         23  against innocent people.

         24                 When the people talk about bringing

         25  Milosovich (phonetic) and all of the people who
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          2  commit all of these crimes in Yugoslavia, I think

          3  Turabi and El Bashid (phonetic) have also got to be

          4  indicted for all of the atrocities that they have

          5  committed against the people in Sudan.

          6                 We do not have the power or legal

          7  rights to stop any business community from doing

          8  business with Sudan, but for the sake of humanity,

          9  let us all join hands together and stop the NIF

         10  government.

         11                 The children in Southern Sudan have

         12  lost their parents, they go without food, clothing

         13  or school. They do not have a future, nor do they

         14  know how to live a normal life. So, it is only

         15  through your compassion and action towards their

         16  plight that can make a big difference in their life.

         17                 Apartheid in South Africa was stopped

         18  through the international involvement. The NIF

         19  Government in Sudan deserves the same treatment.

         20                 The US Administration has so far

         21  appointed a special (unable to discern due to

         22  dialect in language) to Sudan, and the Senate is

         23  pushing for a Sudanese bill. We all need to rally

         24  behind this great efforts. This is what I would like

         25  to say.
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          2                 I would like to thank you very much

          3  for giving me the opportunity to be here to testify,

          4  and the recommendations, if you are going to work on

          5  it, these are good recommendations and they will

          6  definitely bear fruit. We really need that help.

          7  Thank you a lot.

          8                 And I would also like to say, the

          9  people that came here and talked, I believe they

         10  talked more than what I could have said and I really

         11  admire them for that.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Thank you very

         14  much for your testimony. Do we have a copy of your

         15  statement?

         16                 MR. MULLA: I will leave you this one.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, fine.

         18  Thank you so very much.

         19                 Sir Moshe Birr-Nea.

         20                 MR. BIRR-NEA: It is Moses.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Well, Moses,

         22  will you lead us up to the mountain top, please.

         23                 MR. BIRR-NEA: I am here to submit --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Do you have an

         25  organization? Are you representing an organization?
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          2                 MR. BIRR-NEA: It is an organization

          3  called United Captive Nations.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay.

          5                 MR. BIRR-NEA: (Difficult to discern

          6  due to dialect in language.) It was established

          7  about six years ago. I was in the Jewish Post, and I

          8  began to publish articles about the situation of

          9  persecuted groups in the Middle East and then I

         10  began to publish articles of Mr. William Ochan Levi,

         11  who was testifying here, from Sudan and Mrs. Jane

         12  Alley, who was also testifying here, published an

         13  article about the situation of the women in Sudan.

         14  This was a short time before the conference on

         15  women, on a group of Jewish women who went to Bejing

         16  asking them to advocate this issue on the situation

         17  of women in Sudan.

         18                 I was working with Pastor Geist, who

         19  testified today, and I joined his Interfaith

         20  Coalition for Christian Human Rights, which heads

         21  about 35 groups, among them commissioned groups from

         22  Egypt, from Lebanon, from Sudan, and in the last

         23  year also from Bangladesh, also Professor Mulla, who

         24  was here, and Pastor Saheid from Bangladesh, and

         25  also groups from Pakistan, and to find a mutual
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          2  issue of how to defend Christian groups in the

          3  Middle East and Far East.

          4                 Now, my personal experience is that I

          5  was a slave. I was as a young boy in the ghetto, in

          6  Dusseldorf, I was in Auschwitz, I was in six other

          7  concentration camps, so I know a little what it

          8  means to be a slave, especially in a concentration

          9  camp who was designed to kill people by hard work,

         10  by starvation, et cetera. So, I can feel and I can

         11  understand what is going on in Sudan. There was

         12  research that was done in the last six years, and I

         13  have very good access to information on this issue,

         14  and I am here to present few documents.

         15                 One of them is a very important

         16  document of my friend, David Leichtman, from Geneva,

         17  Switzerland, who is a director of Christian

         18  Solidarity International in Switzerland, to the

         19  Office of the United Nations, and there are very

         20  important articles written by him on this issue of

         21  slavery in Sudan. Documented is a very good job done

         22  of research. He is also with the

         23  Association for Work Education in Geneva, and I

         24  recommend to go through this document, because these

         25  are very important and also very interesting
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          2  documents.

          3                 The other document is, this I got

          4  last night by fax from Geneva, and I make the copies

          5  to prepare this testimony here. The other document

          6  is written by Len Megerthorn (phonetic), who is the

          7  Director of Freedom Choice International in Canada,

          8  and he was speaking in an information forum in

          9  Milan, Italy two weeks ago, September 17th, 1999,

         10  and there is a very important document about this

         11  Talisman oil company. This Talisman company is like

         12  a target bomb for making crazy these against people,

         13  against women. I believe the City of New York should

         14  not make business with these people. The City of New

         15  York, who is a multi-ethnic city should never do

         16  business with such monster organizations like Sudan

         17  Government who was behind terrorist attacks against

         18  American lives.

         19                 My third document is (unable to

         20  discern due to dialect in language) in the State

         21  Department of Sudan, and it is interesting, and my

         22  other document is a letter from Mr. Roy Innis. I got

         23  this today by fax from him, and it is a very

         24  important letter because he is describing what is

         25  the wrong attitude of the leadership of America on
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          2  this issue of slavery.

          3                 This is a short letter with a very

          4  important analysis of why the black community is not

          5  standing up against slavery. Why they are talking

          6  about slavery 300 years ago, but they are very quiet

          7  about slavery that happens today. This night some

          8  village was attacked in Sudan, all men are killed

          9  and young women and children are kidnapped, and what

         10  happens to them, this is hard to describe. Young

         11  children are forced to convert to Islam, they are

         12  going through female genital mutilation, also young

         13  boys going through castration to prepare them to be

         14  slaves in South America, in Libya and other

         15  countries. And interesting, I find this out, the

         16  route, how to send them to Libya. They are known.

         17  They know from which villages the trucks are going

         18  to Libya, they know from which villages on the Red

         19  Sea the boats are going to sail. This is very easy

         20  to monitor this by air, by sea, by satellite. Just

         21  two weeks ago I heard that every private person can

         22  buy satellites. It is easy to find out how the

         23  slaves are traded into Libya and other countries.

         24  The Government of the United States know how to do

         25  this, okay?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            159

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 Now, we are speaking here about the

          3  current issue about investment. I believe that the

          4  most important investment is in human beings, in

          5  education. In a big City like New York, in the big

          6  world, we should never operate with Nazi-type

          7  governments like the Government of Sudan. This is a

          8  Nazi government. Believe me, I know what Nazis are,

          9  I know the symptoms, the evidence. This is a Nazi

         10  government who decided to destroy all people who are

         11  not belonging to a specific cast. They are attacking

         12  Muslim villages. MaShea Majing (phonetic) was from

         13  Nuba, he told me they attack not only the Muslim

         14  from North attacking Christian Villages, they are

         15  attacking Muslim villages, not only churches, and

         16  they also take slaves, girls and boys who are

         17  Muslims. It is a big business.

         18                 As a conclusion, I am providing the

         19  last document, which is a plan of action. Because

         20  there are many documents what is going on, what is

         21  happening. I have a document that says What Can We

         22  Do Today, Tomorrow, Next Week, Next Month? I am

         23  suggesting that the Year 2000 should be proclaimed

         24  as an International Anti-Slavery Year, banishment of

         25  slavery.
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          2                 The City of New York has a very

          3  important role in this, to go ahead with this,

          4  speaking about Year 2000 and many problems, why the

          5  City of New York should not proclaim this issue of

          6  banishment of slavery in the year 2000? The

          7  Government of Africa, they are now under 50 years of

          8  (unable to discern due to dialect).

          9                 My suggestion is, and this is the

         10  last suggestion today, to begin to do something, and

         11  to begin to go ahead.

         12                 Mrs. Mary Pinkett, you can provide

         13  your leadership on this issue, to go ahead, this is

         14  not only investment, this is much more. The

         15  investment in the future of New York, is the

         16  multi-ethnic future, it is a City and a state

         17  obligation, and I believe the City of New York

         18  should stand up to this organization.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: Okay, thank you

         21  for your testimony, and I would like to tell you

         22  that Moses thanks you too.

         23                 MR. BIRR-NEA: Okay, thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PINKETT: I would like to

         25  say also, that for those of you who came and stayed
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          2  so long, that the people of Sudan are not voiceless

          3  because your voices spoke for them and we heard you,

          4  and any recommendations or anything you would like

          5  to send to us, we are going to ask you to forward to

          6  our Council Jay Damashek, and that is at 75 Park

          7  Place.

          8                 In the meantime, any recommendations

          9  or suggestions for this Committee, that is the

         10  Committee on Governmental Operations, you can send

         11  to Jay Damashek, who is the Counsel for our

         12  Committee, at 75 Park Place. And then he will, of

         13  course, look through this and we will respond to you

         14  and we will see how that recommendation might fit

         15  into any other hearing or whatever we decide that

         16  needs to be done.

         17                 We do not commit ourselves to actions

         18  with individuals bankers, et cetera, but certainly

         19  we are saying this was a meeting in good faith, we

         20  appreciate your cooperation, we realize this is a

         21  very serious problem, and I would think that when we

         22  strike a blow for freedom for the Sudanese, we free

         23  people who have been in bondage, and you know like

         24  Moses and everybody else, no one wants to be

         25  enslaved. Everyone needs to be free and everyone
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          2  needs someone who will open their mouth and their

          3  heart and speak for someone else, so this is what we

          4  would like to do. And bring your cameras, of course.

          5  And remember, this is an effort that requires male

          6  and females, only those people who think that only

          7  men matter should stay home. Those who understand

          8  that it takes all of us to make this happen will be

          9  here, okay?

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 Did everyone who wished to testify,

         12  who had a desk appearance ticket, testify?

         13                 Is there anyone who had a desk

         14  appearance ticket and wanted to testify, had the

         15  opportunity to testify?

         16                 Is there anyone who wanted to testify

         17  and who was not called?

         18                 Hearing none, this hearing is

         19  adjourned. Thank you.

         20                 (Hearing concluded at 5:05 p.m.)

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 4th day of October 1999.
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